ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		157/01/NL/PA
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		1 (70)

# **Displacement Damage Effects**

# WP1 Study Report

# Literature Survey and Pre-Assessment of Methods

ESA Contract No. 15157/01/NL/PA

# **ESA-GSP 2002**

Work Package 1 Study Report			Page:	2 (70)
	Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
	in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
	ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	

# **Table of Contents**

1 SCOPE OF THE DOCUMENT
2 INTRODUCTION
3 DISPLACEMENT DAMAGE         5           3.1 Defect Production         5           3.2 NIEL Scaling         6
4 NON-IONISING ENERGY LOSS (NIEL)
4.1 Terms describing NLL and related Quantities
4.2.1 General
4.2.3 Silicon Devices
4.2.4 Applicability of Ground Test Data to Space Conditions
4.3 Monte Carlo Methods for the calculation of NIEL17
4.3.1 Estimation of Particle Threshold Energies17
4.3.2 Heavy Charged Particles19
4.3.3 Neutrons25
4.3.4 Electrons
4.3.5 <sup>ov</sup> Co Gamma Rays
4.3.6 Partition Function
4.5.7 Displacement Energy
5 OUTLINE OF A SIMULATION TOOL PROTOTYPE
5.1 Calculation of Non-ionising Energy Deposition
5.2 Calculation of Parameter Degradation
5.3 Algorithmic Approach for the Calculation of NIEL
5.4 Basic Functions of the Simulation Tool Prototype
APPENDIX: DOCUMENTATION OF THE LITERATURE SURVEY
APPENDIX I: PROJECT RELATED REFERENCES
APPENDIX II: REFERENCES RELATED TO THEORY AND ALGORITHMS 56

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	3 (70)

# **1 Scope of the Document**

The present Study Report represents the first outcome and deliverable as a result of Work Package 1 of the ESA-GSP Project "*Predicting Displacement Damage Effects in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation*". Objective of the project is the design and implementation of a pilot-type software simulation tool to calculate displacement damage effects due to non-ionising energy loss (NIEL) induced by an external radiation field, and to estimate the resulting parameter degradation in electronic circuit components.

The document comprises a literature survey on NIEL and displacement damage (Work Package 11), the selection and assessment of a suitable method and algorithm that shall form the basis of the planned simulation tool (Work Package 12), and the documentation of the relevant literature items on NIEL and displacement damage, that have been gathered in the course of WP11 (Work Package 13).

The Study Report is intended to be an aid for ESA to come to a consent concerning the final design of the planned simulation tool. The approval of the Agency is needed in order to continue with Work Package 2.

# 2 Introduction

The high energy space radiation environment consists of a variety of particle species, including solar, galactic, and trapped protons, trapped electrons, and heavy ions from Solar Particle Events and the Galactic Cosmic Radiation (GCR). A high energy particle interacts with matter in different ways depending on its energy, mass charge state and the species it interacts with. The main interaction mechanisms are elastic and inelastic scattering and nuclear reactions like spallation, fragmentation, and fission. The interaction of the primary radiation with the shielding or device material leads to secondaries such as neutrons, protons, mesons, atomic recoils, nuclear fragments, and electromagnetic radiation (due to bremsstrahlung and nuclear deexitation). Depending on its origin the spatial distribution of the primary space radiation is more or less isotropic, and the particle flux varies slowly (e.g. the GCR with the solar cycle) or can increase largely within hours (e.g. during the passage of the radiation belts or due to a solar particle event).

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	4 (70)

Radiation effects in spacecraft electronics include:

- Transient ionisation effects due to the generation of electron-hole pairs. On one hand these effects are benificial, because they are used to detect the passage of high energy particles in particle detectors. However, if a critical charge in the sensitive volume of certain electronics components is exceeded, Single Event Effects may result in a catastrophic failure of the component (e.g. latchup, gate rupture, burnout).
- Long-Term ionisation effects. In insulating areas of a device charges produced by ionising radiation may be trapped and thus immobilised. This can affect electrical properties of the device and may result in permanent parameter changes (e.g. in a threshold voltage shift of a MOSFET).
- Displacement effects. The well-ordered crystalline lattice structure may be disturbed by radiation displacing some of the lattice elements. Important manifestations of displacement damage are i.a. the formation of mid-gap states, which facilitate the transition of electrons from the valence to the conduction band. Consequently the current of reversed-biased pn-diodes is increased or, in forward-biased junctions or non-depleted regions, recombination is facilitated resulting in a charge loss. Trapping is facilitated by radiation-produced states close to the band edges and the donor and acceptor density is changed.

Although only a small fraction (< 1 %) of the total energy deposited by a particle in a semiconductor is non-ionising resulting in non-transient atomic displacement and subsequent defect formation, this type of radiation damage has been identified as the main reason for serious parameter degradation and failure of certain components during space missions and becomes even more important with the extended use of optoelectronics components like LEDs, optocouplers and CCDs (tab. 1).

Work Package 1 Study Report			Page:	5 (70)
Universitä	t zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA		

Component	Lifetime Degradation	Carrier Removal	Trapping	Mobility Degradation
Si MOS Transistors & ICs				S
CCDs	Р		Р	
Si Bipolar Transistors & Linear ICs	Р	S		
Photodetectors	Р			
LEDs & Laser Diodes	Р			
pn Junctions	Р	Р	Р	
JFETS		Р	Р	S
GaAs Transistors & ICs		Р		S

Tab. 1: Mechanisms for the degradation via displacement damage in various technologies; P=primary, S=secondary [MAR99]

## **3 Displacement Damage**

#### 3.1 Defect Production

The bulk damage in semiconductor devices by hadrons or higher energetic leptons is caused primarily by displacing a *Primary Knock On Atom* (PKA) out of its lattice site resulting in an interstitial-vacancy pair (*Frenkel pair*). The PKA can leave its lattice site if its kinetic energy imparted during the collision exceeds the *displacement energy E*<sub>d</sub>. In case of high energy particles a nuclear reaction can take place, resulting in a number of fragments of the target atom and possibly other secondary particles. The recoils, fragments or other secondaries lose their energy through ionisation (which will not result in any significant changes in the lattice) and additionally can give rise to further displacements. An atomic cascade takes place, until the displacement energy cannot be transferred any more. At the end of a heavy recoil range the non-ionising interactions are prevailing, leading to a dense

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report			6 (70)

agglomeration of defects (*clusters*). At room temperature a major part of the Frenkel pairs annihilate and will not cause any permanent damage. The remaining vacancies and interstitials migrate through the lattice and undergo numerous reactions (tending to create more complex defects), which are partly influenced by impurities present in the semiconductor material. The electrical properties of the resulting – relative stable – lattice defects influence the properties of the semiconductor material. The defects will have energy levels within the bandgap and can give rise to several basic effects [HOP96]: the generation or recombination of electron-hole pairs, the trapping of carriers, the compensation of donors or acceptors, and the tunneling of carriers.

The formation and evolution of the defects is a complex process and the interaction of different radiation fields with a semiconductor material may result in different defect types. The kind and the distribution of defects may even depend on the energy of a given particle impinging the semiconductor. Even for a well examined material like silicon not all electrically active defect types (and their relative importance) have been identified. At present, a first principles calculation of the radiation-induced degradation of a device parameter considering the entire damage process is generally not possible.

#### 3.2 NIEL Scaling

For the prediction of radiation-induced parameter degradation it is fortunately (and somewhat surprisingly) often sufficient to consider the first step of the damage process only, i. e. the deposition of non-ionising energy in the semiconductor by the impinging particles and the produced secondaries. It has been experimentally shown, that in many cases the displacement-damage induced change of a device property scales linearly with the amount of non-ionising energy imparted in displacing collisions, irrespective of the spatial distribution of the introduced displacement defects in one PKA cascade, and regardless of the various annealing sequences taking place after the damage event. Therefore it is possible to extrapolate the parameter degradation of a device measured for a given particle and particle energy to other energies and other particles by comparing the non-ionising energy loss (NIEL) in the device material ("NIEL scaling").

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	7 (70)

# 4 Non-Ionising Energy Loss (NIEL)

#### 4.1 Terms describing NIEL and related Quantities

During the last two decades a tremendous amount of papers have been published dealing with non-ionising energy deposition in semiconductor materials. Research was stimulated by the awareness of possible malfunctions of components in space and the need for radiation-hard electronics for future particle accelerator experiments. In contrast to the ionising energy deposition an obligatory terminology for the characterisation of non-ionising energy deposition has not been fixed yet. The "space community" and the "particle physics community" use slightly different approaches, however, the use of different names for the same physical quantity and – worse – of the same name for different quantities can be found among each "community".

According to NIEL scaling, a **hardness factor**  $\mathbf{k}_n$  can be defined, allowing to compare the damage of an arbitrary particle field with a spectral distribution  $\mathbf{f}(E)$  and fluence  $\Phi$  to the damage that would have been produced by monoenergetic neutrons with an energy of  $E_n = 1$  MeV:

$$\Phi_{eq}^{n,(1MeV)} = \mathbf{k}_n \cdot \Phi \tag{1}$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{k}_{n} = \frac{EDK}{EDK(n, E_{n} = 1 MeV)}$$
(2)

with EDK being the energy spectrum averaged **displacement damage cross** section:

$$EDK = \frac{\int DK(E) \mathbf{f}(E) dE}{\int \mathbf{f}(E) dE}$$
(3)

where f(E) is the differential flux of the arbitrary particle field.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	8 (70)

The displacement damage cross section *DK* (also called displacement KERMA) can be calculated using the cross section of an interaction leading to recoils, the energy distribution of recoils, the partitioning between ionising and non-ionising energy loss of the recoils and finally summing over all possible interaction channels for the initial particle.

$$DK(E) = \sum_{k} \boldsymbol{s}_{k}(E) \cdot \int dT f_{k}(E,T) Q(T)$$
(4)

where *k* is the index of an interaction between the incoming particle with energy *E* and the lattice atom,  $s_k$  is the cross section for interaction *k*,  $f_k(E,T)$  is the probability for the production of a recoil with kinetic energy *T* by a particle with energy *E* undergoing reaction *k*, and Q(T) is the partition function, which gives the fraction of *T* lost in non-ionising energy loss. The integration is performed over all possible recoil energies and Q(T) is set to zero, if the energy of the recoil is less then the displacement energy:  $Q(T < E_d) = 0$  [MOL99].

The displacement damage cross section is usually quantified in [MeV-millibarn]. A related magnitude, *NIEL*, has been introduced [SUM87], which is analogous to, and has the same units as, ionising stopping power and Linear Energy Transfer (we use NIEL as an acronym for Non Ionising Energy Loss. *NIEL* – written in italics – denotes the physical quantity non-ionising energy loss rate). The displacement damage cross section and *NIEL* can be converted into each other by accounting for the number of atoms per gram ( $N_A$  /A), e.g. multiplying the damage cross section with Avogadro's number  $N_A$  and dividing by the molar mass A.

The value of the displacement damage cross section for neutrons with an energy of 1 MeV has been fixed [AST01]. For silicon,  $DK(n, E_n = 1 \text{ MeV}) = EDK(n, E_n = 1 \text{ MeV}) =$  95 MeVmb. With the molar mass of Silicon A = 28.086 g/Mol this corresponds to  $NIEL(n, E_n = 1 \text{ MeV}) = 2.037 \text{ keV} \cdot \text{cm}^2/\text{g}.$ 

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	9 (70)

In terms of a differential partial cross section ds/dT for an impinging particle (with energy *E*) creating a given recoil the contribution of that kind of recoil to the total *NIEL* may be calculated [AKK01] by

$$NIEL(E) = \frac{N_A}{A} \int_{T_{\min}}^{T_{\max}} dT Q(T) T \left(\frac{d\mathbf{s}}{dT}\right)_E$$
(5)

Akkermann et al. [AKK01] assume a minimum energy transfer of  $T_{min} = 2E_d$  and use for the upper integration limit the maximum recoil energy for a head-on collision where the lattice atom of mass *M* is directly hit by the impinging particle of mass *m*:  $T_{max} = 4\pi E m M/(m+M)^2$ .

Analogous to ionising dose the **Displacement Damage Dose**  $D_d$  can be defined, which is the product of *NIEL* and the particle fluence.

#### 4.2 Applicability of NIEL Scaling

#### 4.2.1 General

Although there is no real theoretical – microscopic – understanding, why radiation damage should scale with NIEL, the NIEL scaling hypothesis is generally accepted because it has agreed with most experimental data for bulk damage under various irradiation conditions. Using the NIEL concept the radiation damage in various semiconductor materials have been - at least qualitatively - examined (including diamond [LAZ98], germanium [MAR89], SiC [BAR91], SiGe [OHY97], InP ([SUM93], [WAL97]), InGaAs [BAR00], InGaAsP [OHY00], AIGaAs [REE00]). Of course the vast majority of investigations focus on damage in Si and - to a lesser extent - GaAs devices. On one hand, these studies showed the wide range of applicability of the NIEL concept, on the other hand they clearly demonstrated the limitations in certain cases.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	10 (70)

#### 4.2.2 GaAs and other II-V Semiconductor Compounds

NIEL scaling and the concept of Displacement Damage Dose has been proven to be very useful in describing the degradation of the maximum power of GaAs/Ge solar cells after irradiations with protons of energies of 0.2 to 9.5 MeV and electrons (0.6 to 12 MeV). Data points fall on a common (characteristic) curve, if the measured maximum power (normalised to pre-irradiation values) is plotted using the displacement damage dose as the abscissa of the plot [MES99]. However, the electron and proton characteristic curves derived for heteroepitaxial InP/Si solar cells did not coincide, unless the displacement damage dose for electrons had been divided by a constant factor. Radiation-induced defects that act to degrade the diffusion-length have maybe different characteristics in electron and proton irradiated material. Since the radiation-induced defect energy levels in InP appear to arise from complexes formed of impurity atoms and radiation-induced defects, the denser defect structure induced by proton irradiation might induce these defect energy levels more rapidly as compared with electron irradiation and results in more rapid cell degradation [WAL97].

Considering the entire proton energy range of interest, large discrepancies can be found between the energy dependence of NIEL in GaAs (and in other III-V compound semiconductors) and that of experimentally determined damage. Depending on how (at which energy) the damage factors are normalised to NIEL, it is reported that NIEL overestimates the damage at high energies or underestimates it at low energies.

Already early work on implanted resistors and JFETs showed that damage factors fall well below the NIEL curve when proton energy exceeds approximately 15 MeV [SUM88]. Since then, the existence of marked departures of experimental values from NIEL calculations have been confirmed e. g. by direct measurements of the minority carrier lifetime in amphoterically doped GaAs LEDs [BAR95] and by investigating the output power dependence on proton energy for AlGaAs LEDs [REE00]. NIEL scaling violations are not confined to proton irradiations and have also been reported for GaAs LEDs irradiated in several neutron environments [GRI91]. With respect to optocouplers, members of the NASA Electronics Radiation Characterisation Project have recently recommended that the use of NIEL scaling should be restricted to proton energies less than 30 MeV and supplemented by a couple of measured damage values at higher energies [REE01].

Because the major deviations from NIEL scaling appear at proton energies where nuclear reactions dominate and the corresponding cross sections are less well

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
In Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		lssue: Date:	1.0 31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	11 (70)	

known, it might be suspected that NIEL calculations are not accurate in this energy region. However, a recent calculation of NIEL in GaAs [AKK01] agreed within a few percent (in the energy range of 40 to 150 MeV) with previous results obtained by Summers et al. [SUM88]. Akkermann et al. [AKK01] used the ENDF/B-VI library for the calculation of NIEL. This library does not contain any data for Ga and As, and the authors used cross sections of Cu instead for elastic and inelastic interactions. This will definitely introduce some uncertainty in the results, but does not explain the large discrepancies (up to some 100 percent) between calculation and experiment.

It has been considered that recoil equilibrium does not exist in the active areas of the devices examined. It has been shown [SUM88] that using a "restricted energy loss" approach to the calculation of NIEL in a very thin region close to the surface experimental data and the "restricted NIEL curve" were in line. The reasonable motivation for "restricted energy loss" calculations is, that the fragments from inelastic interactions can be many times the dimensions of the active region of a device. But the deviations have also appeared under experimental conditions where equilibrium could be assumed [BAR95].

Thus it appears that high energy protons are less damaging in GaAs than low energy protons (normalised to the same displacement damage dose). Barry et al. [BAR95] speculate that this could result from damage clusters of increasing size created by irradiation with high energy protons. They refer to the explanation of Luera et al. [LUE87] for the lower than expected carrier removal rate for 14 MeV neutrons, saying that such clusters are expected to have less effect on the electrical properties than the constituent defects acting individually. Griffin et al. [GRI91] propose a thermal spike mechanism, which has been extensively studied in metals, as the reason for the reduced efficiency of neutron-induced high energy recoils in GaAs. A thermal spike occurs when the cluster energy density is high enough to cause local melting and subsequent recrystallisation of the material, thus leading to an increased annealing of the defects. The saturation at high PKA energy is correlated with the production of defect clusters. As the PKA energy increases more clusters are generated (per neutron), but the cluster size (and cluster damage efficiency) stabilises. According to Griffin et al. the observation of a thermal spike phenomenon in GaAs and not in silicon is consistent with the fact that GaAs has a lower binding energy and a higher cascade energy density than does silicon.

Griffin et al. [GRI95] derived an empirical damage neutron efficiency function x(T), which is dependent on the energy of the recoils. The efficiency function is applied by substituting the partition factor Q(T) in equation (4) by the product x(T) xQ(T). In a

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nukle	earchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report			12 (70)

recent paper [MES01] it has been shown that by adopting this concept for protons, the resulting modified NIEL calculation for protons in GaAs and LED carrier lifetime measurements [BAR95] are in agreement [MES01]. The efficiency function is stepwise defined [AST01]:

x(T) = 1.0 for T < 0.1 keV,

 $\mathbf{x}(T) = a_0 + a_1 \log(T) + a_2 \sqrt{T^2} \log(T) + a_3 \sqrt{\log(T)}^2 \qquad \text{for } 0.1 < T < 500 \text{ keV},$ 

x(T) = 0.01 for T > 500 keV

with  $a_0 = 0.872670$ ,  $a_1 = -0.187469$ ,  $a_2 = 1.2371788 \cdot 10^{-7}$ ,  $a_3 = -0.060753$ .

The concept works by calculating an effective fraction of the recoils initial energy  $x(T) \sim Q(T)$ , where Q(T) is the Lindhard partition function. Is has not been shown yet that the empirical efficiency function is applicable to other GaAs devices nor to other III-V compound semiconductors. Following the thermal spike concept, most of the defects annihilate by recombinations during the thermal spike. Hashimoto et al. [HAS88] considered correlations of radiation induced microstructural changes in different metal alloy systems by accounting for the freely migrating defects. The fraction of defects which become free to migrate depends strongly on whether they are produced in cascade events or as isolated Frenkel pairs. The authors found, that the median energy  $T_{1/2}$ , with which the primary knock-on atoms recoil, is a suitable measure for estimating the number of freely migration defects and hence for the amount of microstructural changes induced in different metal alloy systems by a variety of irradiation particles.  $T_{1/2}$  is computed by the evaluation of the primary-recoil spectrum weighted by the total number of Frenkel pair defects produced by each primary recoil. Larger values of  $T_{1/2}$  imply, that a greater fraction of the total number of irradiation induced defects are produced in energetic displacement cascades and hence the damage efficiency is reduced. However, the effect of lower energy PKAs on enhancing radiation damage can be affected by a coexistence of displacement cascades by high energy knock-ons ([ARU99] and references therein).

It is interesting to note, that an even better agreement with the experimental data of [BAR95] can be achieved just by using a simpler model for the effective damaging recoil energy [MES01]. Prior to the Lindhard theory models were used, which assume a sharp ionisation limit  $E_i$ , above which a primary recoil loses all of its energy solely by ionisation. For an insulator  $E_i$  can be calculated by  $E_i = M \times E_g / 8 \times m_e$ , where

Work Package 1 Study Report			13 (70)
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	

*M* is the atomic mass of the target,  $m_e$  is the mass of an electron and  $E_g$  is the optical width of the forbidden gap. This prescription by Seitz only contains well-known material parameters and might presumably be applicable not only for insulators but also for semiconductors. However, direct experimental evidence indicates that Lindhard's partition function does apply in GaAs as well as in silicon ([MES01] and references therein).

#### 4.2.3 Silicon Devices

The CERN RD48 (ROSE) collaboration performed extensive investigations on the radiation damage of silicon detectors and on the details of defect formation and kinetics during annealing. Many experiments have shown that bulk damage parameters scale independent of particle type and energy with fluence if normalised to NIEL ([LIN00], [VAS00a]). Recently it was found that the NIEL scaling does not hold ideally when oxygen-enriched detectors are examined. In oxygenated silicon the change in effective doping concentration  $N_{eff}$  caused by high-energy protons or pions is considerable less than that due to MeV-neutrons of the same NIEL equivalent fluence. Present defect models attribute the oxygen effect especially to point defects; the low-energy recoils from Coulomb interactions are more likely to produce point defects, whereas the total NIEL in neutron damage is governed predominantly by the production of clusters. In fact gamma irradiations (creating only point defects due to the Coulomb interaction of the Compton electrons) support this explanation: the oxygen-enrichment had an even larger effect than for hadron irradiation ([LIN01] and references therein). Because the ratio between cluster-type defects and point defects varies with proton energy, notably below 10 MeV [FEI00], an examination of the dependence of effective doping change on proton energy would be another confirmation of the influence of defect types on damage. There is experimental evidence ([BIS00], [BIS00a] and references therein), that the acceptor creation rate cannot be scaled by NIEL even for standard silicon devices after low energy proton irradiations.

Comparing the damage effects of hadrons with that produced by electrons an example of an even worse breaking down of the NIEL scaling is reported by G. Lindström et al. [VAS00]: the current related damage of electrons with an energy of 1.8 MeV appears to be less damaging than that of hadrons (n, p, pions) by a factor of 40, although normalised to the same equivalent fluence. The authors state that the reason is most likely twofold: (1) the abundance of displacement clusters formed by

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1	Work Package 1 Study Report			

hadron irradiations via nuclear interaction leading to a high generation current, whereas for electrons this part is almost negligible, and (2) in addition the higher ratio of close pairs among the primary Frenkel defects produced by electron irradiation (due to the lower mean recoil energy, because Coulomb interaction is the only interaction channel) leading to an enhanced recombination.

The observation of Lindström might be related to the findings of J. R. Srour and D. H. Lo [SRO00]. By evaluating a large amount of literature data, they succeeded in deriving a universal damage factor for radiation induced dark current in an arbitrary silicon device. The radiation induced increase in thermal generation rate per unit fluence scales linearly with NIEL for hadron (n, p, pion and heavy ion) irradiation but the authors found significant deviations from linearity for low-energy (< 2 MeV) electron and <sup>60</sup>Co irradiations (the latter being equivalent to low energy electron irradiation in that context). A quadratic dependence appears to describe the electron data reasonably well, but the authors found experimental evidence, both for linearity and deviations from linearity. In contrast to Summers et al., deviations from linearity have been found for p-type and n-type devices (whereas Summers et al. observed linearity for n-type and a quadratic dependence for p-type material [SUM93]). However, the study of Summers et al. involved diffusion length (i.e. recombination lifetime) degradation, whereas Srour and Lo considered generation lifetime changes. According to Srour and Lo, different defects generally dominate recombination compared to generation, and this might explain the different findings.

A compilation of *NIEL* data for neutron, protons, pions, and electrons in silicon can be found in [VAS00]. From the available literature those data were selected, which proved to be the most reliable ones (with respect to the physics approach behind and in comparison with experimental data).

#### 4.2.4 Applicability of Ground Test Data to Space Conditions

Care has to be taken when using ground test data: despite the irradiation conditions (normal vs. isotropic; flux rate) the operating conditions of a device (supply voltage, bias, temperature, permanent/intermittent operation) might not appropriately reflect the situation during a mission and correction factors must be applied. Concurrent ionising dose effects must be taken into account, particularly with respect to the annealing behaviour. There may be a considerable device-to-device variation in radiation damage, especially for COTS (commercial-off-the shelf) devices. In contrast

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects	Ref.:15	Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report	Page:	15 (70)	

to ground tests, devices in space are simultaneously irradiated with different particles and continuos energy spectra. Possible synergetic effects (e.g. with respect to the formation of stable defects), are not yet sufficiently examined.

Some device properties are non-linear with fluence. E.g. at low fluences the degradation of solar cells is due to the introduction of non-radiative recombination centres, at (very) high fluences solar cells show additionally the effects of carrier removal. The annealing rate of certain defects in silicon for low proton fluence and/or density of primary damage sites is reduced [FEI00]. This may indicate a fluence dependence of radiation damage.

#### 4.2.4.1 Geometry of the Device

Several geometry dependent effects have influence on the radiation damage of a device for a given radiation environment.

#### Recoil Equilibrium

Although an imperfect build-up of recoils could not generally explain the decreased parameter degradation of some GaAs devices measured for higher proton energies, it is definitely a matter of concern. For certain devices having a thin active volume near the surface recoil equilibrium may not be achieved, because e.g. for protons incident on a CCD, the primary recoils generated can have ranges larger than the depth to the CCD buried channel. If recoil equilibrium has not been reached, then *NIEL* would be expected to overestimate the displacement damage. However, compared to the case of isotropic irradiation behind spacecraft shielding, equilibrium conditions can be more violated during ground tests, where irradiations are usually performed with normally incident particles (furthermore, in some cases the de-lidding or de-packaging of devices during ground tests may prevent the build-up of equilibrium). A damage factor measured using normally incident irradiation and high proton energy applied to the space situation – disregarding the recoil build-up – may thus result in an underestimation of the radiation damage during a mission (cf. [DAL93], [DAL94]).

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			16 (70)	

#### Local Variations of Energy Deposition

With shrinking dimensions of active volumes (e.g. a FET channel) fluctuations of the local energy deposition become important. In CCDs and CIDs, the variation of the dark current signal from one pixel to another due to the different energy deposition in such a microvolume is already a main concern (cf. e.g. [HOP96]). The use of NIEL alone only enables the prediction of the mean bulk damage. By using microdosimetry theory and NIEL, Robbins [ROB00] developed an improved analytical method for deriving the dark signal distribution induced by elastic and inelastic proton interactions. However, as shown in [DAL94], analytically obtained distributions can deviate significantly from those measured when the range of recoils become comparable with the dimensions of the depletion volume. Dale et al. [DAL94] performed Monte Carlo simulations and found that border crossers, which have crossed the active volume boundary and stopped outside, have a large effect on the inelastic variance. For 63 MeV protons the relative inelastic variance  $(s/m)^2$  (where m is the mean damage energy and s is the standard deviation) sharply increases with decreasing depletion depth over a range relevant to device depths and that it decreases with increasing proton energy (this energy dependence flattens at high energies because the mean damage energy saturates due to the Lindhard partitioning).

Dale et al. used a modified version of the CUPID (Clemson University Proton Interactions in Devices) Monte Carlo code for the determination of the inelastic damage distribution. In CUPID, two nested volumes with identical shapes are specified. The smaller inner volume represents the sensitive volume. For any spallation reaction in either the sensitive volume or outer shell, CUPID follows all recoil fragments from the point of production to the end of range. If a particle crosses the boundary of the sensitive volume, only the damage energy deposited in this volume is counted. An event is defined as occurring whenever a particle with atomic number z > 2 enters the sensitive volume, or is generated within the sensitive volume [DAL94].

#### Slowing Down of Charged Particles and Secondary Particles

The range of low energy (< few MeV) charged particles in the space environment is often less than the shield thickness employed. However, due to the electronic stopping of high energy particles in the shielding and in the device itself low energy

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report			17 (70)

particles are present. Messenger et al. ([MES97], [SUM97]) showed that protons which have slowed down to energies below 0.1 MeV can contribute up to 30 % of the total displacement dose in GaAs solar cells. This is due to the fact that *NIEL* in GaAs peaks at a proton energy of about  $4\cdot10^{-4}$  MeV and at this energy *NIEL* is four orders of magnitude higher than that at 100 MeV. To model proton displacement damage, it is necessary to know the proton energy spectrum down to the displacement threshold energy ( $\approx$ 150 eV; cf. chap. 4.3.1). Because energy spectra are often provided only down to 100 keV, which is generally sufficient for ionisation cases, Messenger et al. present a simple method for the calculation of the differential energy spectrum of the transmitted protons down to 100 eV [MES97].

In the case of heavier shielded (> some 5 millimetres AI equivalent material) devices, secondary particles generated in the shielding contribute significantly to the displacement damage dose. In heavy shielding applications where trapped and solar protons dominate, differences up to +25% where calculated, when the results of a Monte Carlo program (accounting for secondary particle generation) was compared to those obtained by a continuos slowing down approximation for the primary protons only [Jun01].

#### 4.3 Monte Carlo Methods for the calculation of NIEL

#### 4.3.1 Estimation of Particle Threshold Energies

It is instructive to consider the most simple case of an interaction with a lattice atom, i.e. a head-on collision where the lattice atom (mass M) is directly hit by the impinging particle of mass m and energy E. The recoil energy of the struck atom is

$$T_{\max} = 4 \cdot E \cdot \frac{m \cdot M}{(m+M)^2}$$
(6)

or in case of an impinging relativistic electron ( $m_e \ll M$ )

$$T_{\max} = 2 \cdot E \cdot \frac{m_e}{M} \cdot \left(2 + \frac{E}{m_e c^2}\right)$$
(7)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			18 (70)	

where  $m_e$  is the electron's rest mass ( $m_e = 5.49 \cdot 10^{-4}$  amu) and  $m_e x^2 = 0.511$  MeV.

The recoil can leave its lattice site, if its kinetic energy exceeds the displacement energy  $E_d$ . Consequently, a minimum energy of the incident particle  $E_{thr}$  is required to produce such an damage event. In the case of a relativistic electron and a head-on collision  $E_{thr}$  is given by [BRA94]

$$E_{thr} = m_e \cdot c^2 \cdot \left( \sqrt{1 + \frac{E_d}{2 \cdot m_e \cdot c^2} \cdot \frac{M}{m_e}} - 1 \right)$$
(8)

Using equation (8) and, after substituting  $E \rightarrow E_{thr}$  and  $T_{max} \rightarrow E_d$ , equation (7) can be used to calculate the minimum energy of an incident particle required to dislodge an atom from its lattice site (tab. 2).

			Semicondu	ctor Material		
			Ga	As	S	iC
	Si	Ge	Ga	As	Si	С
E <sub>d</sub> [eV]	21	27.5	7 to	o 11	21	.8
<i>E<sub>thr</sub></i> [keV]	220	580	188 to	200 to	220	108
(electrons)			275	292		
<i>E<sub>thr</sub></i> [keV]	0.15 (*)	0.5	0.12 to	0.13 to	0.15	0.065
(protons)			0.19	0.21		

(\*) A value commonly used in the HEP community is  $E_{thr}$  (neutrons)  $\approx$  185 eV ([VAS97a], [MOL99]).

Tab. 2: Threshold energies  $E_{thr}$  for different particles and semiconductor materials (after [BRA94]).

It should be noted here that the kinematical limit imposed by the elastic threshold does not exclude damage effects by less energetic neutrons due to nuclear reactions. E.g. in silicon,  $E_{thr}$  corresponds to a minimum of the displacement damage cross section, but DK(E) increases below the threshold energy with decreasing neutron energy due to an  $(n, \gamma)$  reaction resulting in Si recoils with an energy of approx. 1.28 keV, well above  $E_d$  [VAS97a].

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			19 (70)	

The displacement energy  $E_d$  is the minimum energy required to produce a Frenkel pair. A higher energy is required for the production of defect clusters, about 5 keV in silicon ([LIN87]). With (7) and (8) one can deduce that a neutron must have at least a kinetic energy of 35 keV, and an electron more than approx. 8 MeV, to produce a cluster. Photons of a <sup>60</sup>Co-source will mainly interact with the silicon via Compton electrons having a maximum energy of approx. 1 MeV [MOL99], which is not sufficient to create clusters, but a relatively uniform distribution of isolated point defects (MARLOWE simulations by Woods et al. [WOO81] lead to a different description of the dependence of the defect structure on the recoils energy *T*: recoils in Si with  $E_d < T < 2$  keV produce only point defects. For recoils with  $\approx 2$  keV<  $T < \approx 12$  keV one defect cluster is formed and for recoils with  $T > \approx 20$  keV a tree like defect structure is formed. Further investigations – including also other semiconductor materials – would be interesting).

#### 4.3.2 Heavy Charged Particles

#### Interaction with a Target Nucleus

A particle of atomic number z approaching a nucleus of atomic number Z will, at large distances, experience only the Coulomb potential

$$V_c(r) = \frac{z \cdot Z \cdot e^2}{4 p e_0 \cdot r} \tag{9}$$

at distances r from the centre of the nucleus. This situation is changed when the particle comes within the range of the nuclear forces. However, there is a Coulomb potential barrier  $V_b$  to be surmounted whose value is approximately

$$V_b(r) = \frac{z \cdot Z \cdot e^2}{4\mathbf{p}\mathbf{e}_0 \cdot R} \tag{10}$$

where *R* is the nuclear radius. There is a finite chance of penetrating the barrier for energies less than  $V_{b}$ , but if the energy is well below the barrier height then this effect is negligible and the incident particle will be simply elastically scattered by the

Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	20 (70)	
l Iniversität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation			1.0	
ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	

Coulomb potential (Rutherford scattering). In the case of an incident proton approximate values for  $V_b$  are e.g. 3 MeV for Z=6 (carbon) and 17 MeV (Z=82; lead). According to (10) the Coulomb barrier will be much larger for heavy ions.

At present, a description of nuclear reactions derived from fundamental principles covering the variety of observed phenomena in the entire energy range does not exist. Several models are used, which describe the interaction of an incident particle with the nucleus rather well in a certain energy range, but may fail for other energies.

An optical model can be used to describe the situation, when the energy of the incident particle is sufficiently high, so that the distance of the closest approach brings it within the range of nuclear forces. The optical model, developed by Feshbach, Porter and Weisskopf in 1954, describes the interaction of the incident particle with a nuclear potential V + iW, where the imaginary part is introduced to account for all nonelastic processes by leading to a damping of the projectile wavefunction. This is analogous to the imaginary term in the refractive index introduced in optics to take account of absorption. In fact, the regular fluctuations of the differential cross section ds/dW as a function of the scattering angle, which are observed for a wide range of nuclei (and also for incident neutrons), are reminiscent of a "smeared out" diffraction pattern and can be interpreted as approximating to Fraunhofer diffraction due to an absorbent sphere [BLI91]. While the optical model predicts the total reaction cross sections for various decay channels.

Various possibilities exist, if a direct collision with a nucleon takes place. The nucleon may be exited to a higher state and the incident particle leaves the nucleus with reduced energy (inelastic scattering). Alternatively the incident particle may give enough energy to the nucleon so that this nucleon is knocked out from the nucleus. Depending on how much energy the incident particle retains it may escape the nucleus or it is captured. A composite incident particle may lose some of its component nucleons which remain in the target nucleus (stripping reaction) or, conversely, it may pick-up a nucleon from the target (pick-up reaction). Such direct interactions take place in a time of the order of that taken by the incident particle to cross a nucleus ( $\approx 10^{-22}$  s).

The collision of the incident particle with the nucleus may result in a series of further random collisions within the nucleus. The state of the nucleus after it has captured the incident particle and in which many internal collision processes are occurring was

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln A	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report			21 (70)

first discussed by Niels Bohr and is referred to as the compound nucleus. The deexcitation of the compound nucleus may be described statistically and results in the emission (evaporation) of single nucleons or more complex clusters of nucleons. If less energy has been imparted to the nucleus during the collision the de-exitation of the nucleus may be achieved through the emission of gamma rays. The resulting nucleus recoils with energies in the range of a few hundred keV to a few MeV. A compound nucleus process can thus be represented as taking place in two stages formation of the compound nucleus and its decay. The compound nucleus exists for approximately  $10^{-16}$  to  $10^{-18}$  s and the evaporation stage proceeds almost independently of the mode of the compound nucleus formation.

A particle emission can take place with a time scale longer than the very rapid direct reactions but much shorter than the slower compound nucleus reactions These emission processes are known as pre-equilibrium or multistep reactions, and they are characterised by particles emitted with relatively high energies and with angular distributions that are peaked in the forward direction. Numerous models have been developed to account for the high-energy pre-equilibrium particles that make up the "continuum" region of the secondary particle emission spectra above the evaporation peak (for incident energies above approximately 10 MeV). Beginning in the 1940s, intranuclear cascade (INC) models were developed that use Monte Carlo techniques to simulate nucleon-nucleus reactions in terms of individual successive nucleonnucleon collisions. The INC theory makes use of free nucleon-nucleon experimental cross sections, and it accounts for Fermi motion and Pauli blocking in a semiclassical manner. Perhaps the most questionable assumption within the INC model is the utilisation of free-space nucleon-nucleon cross sections for scattering events that take place within a nuclear medium, which is most accurate only at high incident energies (above approximately 100-200 MeV). However, some authors have had some success with INC calculations even at energies as low as 20 MeV [CHA02].

Some general relations hold for hadron-nucleon interactions [FIL92]:

- the non-elastic cross section is almost constant above 100 MeV,
- the multiplicity of high energy secondary particles increases approximately with ln(*E*), with *E* being the energy of the incident particle
- the residual excitation energy (and thus the multiplicity for the production of low energy [< 20 MeV] hadrons) increases slowly with the energy of the incident particle.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	22 (70)	

#### Calculation of Damage Cascades and *NIEL* using TRIM

The well known Monte Carlo code TRIM calculates the final 3D distribution of the ions impinging an arbitrary material. All target atom cascades in the target are followed in detail (fig. 1). TRIM considers the interaction of an incident ion with atomic number  $Z_1$ , and energy E, having a collision within the target with an atom of atomic number  $Z_2$ . After the collision, the incident ion has energy  $E_1$  and the struck atom has energy  $E_2$ . Previously specified for the target are the displacement energy  $E_d$ , the binding energy of a lattice atom to its site  $E_b$ , and  $E_f$ , the final energy of a moving atom, below which it is considered to be stopped. A displacement occurs if  $E_2 > E_d$ . A vacancy occurs if both  $E_1 > E_d$  and  $E_2 > E_d$  (both atoms have enough energy to leave the site). Both atoms then become moving atoms of the cascade. The energy  $E_2$  of atom  $Z_2$  is reduced by  $E_b$  before it has another collision. If  $E_2 < E_d$ , then the struck atom does not have enough energy and it will vibrate back to its original site, releasing  $E_2$  as phonons. If  $E_1 < E_d$  and  $E_2 > E_d$  and  $Z_1 = Z_2$ , then the incoming atom will remain at the site and the collision is called a replacement collision with  $E_1$ released as phonons. The atom in the lattice site remains the same atom by exchange. This type of collision is common in single element targets with large recoil cascades. If  $E_1 < E_d$  and  $E_2 > E_d$  and  $Z_1 \neq Z_2$ , then  $Z_1$  becomes a stopped interstitial atom. Finally, if  $E_1 < E_d$  and  $E_2 < E_d$ , then  $Z_1$  becomes an interstitial and  $E_1 + E_2$  is released as phonons. If a target has several different elements in it, and each has a different displacement energy, then  $E_d$  will change for each atom of the cascade hitting different target atoms [ZIE96].

Since TRIM calculates the vacancy production rate, i.e. the average number of produced vacancies along a path of an ion, it is possible to derive *NIEL* using the modified Kinchin-Pease relationship between the number of atomic displacements  $N_d$  and a given quantity of non-ionising energy  $E_n$ 

$$N_d = \frac{E_n}{2.5 \cdot E_d} \tag{11}$$

which holds for  $E_n > 2.5 \cdot E_d$ ;  $N_d = 1$  for  $E_d < E_n < 2.5 \cdot E_d$ , else  $N_d = 0$ .

Recently the use of TRIM has been proposed for the calculation of *NIEL* for heavy ions [MES99]. However, TRIM does not include any nuclear reaction analysis, thus

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation			1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			23 (70)	

the validity of the results is constrained to the energy range where Rutherford scattering dominates. The TRIM code is suitable for transport calculations of the produced recoils, which typically have energies less than 10 MeV. Consequently, for a detailed analysis of damage cascades in silicon, Huhtinen [HUH01] followed the lines of the TRIM code given in [ZIE85] (with some



Fig 1: Track of a Si-recoil in a SiC lattice. The primary recoil (line) was generated at (X, Y, Z) = (0,0,0) with initial energy T = 30 keV. In this example the recoil gave rise to 343 displacements. Moving or stopped C-atoms are denoted with filled circles, moving or stopped Si-atoms with open circles. Simulation with TRIM (SRIM 2000.40).

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation			1.0	
Universität zu Kö	In Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			24 (70)	

modifications allowing the explicit production of secondary recoils when the ion collides with lattice atoms). A related method has been applied by Chilingarov et al. [CHI00]. They calculated the total non-ionising energy loss for a variety of ions during their slowing down to rest in carbon, silicon, and GaAs. The incident ion was followed in small steps through the material and in each step the ionisation energy loss, assumed to be continuos, was computed and the discontinuous energy loss due to Rutherford scattering was simulated. In the latter case, the energy of each nucleus recoiling from both primary and secondary interactions was stored.

#### Recently Applied Methods for the Calculation of Proton *NIEL*

Various approaches to calculate proton *NIEL* are undertaken in the following publications:

[AKK01]: Approximation of the elastic ds/dW cross section data, which are tabulated in the ENDF/B-VI library, by a sum of a few Gaussians. The recoil energy is calculated using two body kinematics. Inelastic ENDF/B-VI library data include direct, pre-equilibrium, and compound nucleus reaction mechanisms and are suitable up to approximately 200 MeV. Contains only a selection of target atoms. Library data are used up to 150 MeV and a semi-empirical model is used for higher energies.

[ALU91]: A modified version of the cascade-evaporation model of the High Energy Transport Code (HETC) is used to calculate the interactions of protons from 70 to 600 MeV in Si. Calculations of localised displacement cascades are done with the MARLOWE-12 code, which uses the binary collision approximation (BCA).

[HUH01]: A pre-equilibrium model is used for energies less than 1.3 GeV; for elastic scattering a simple Glauber optical model is used. It has the drawback, that it tends to overestimate scattering at large angles. To avoid unphysically high values a maximum of 10 MeV is imposed on the contribution of the recoils from elastic scattering.

[Jun01]: *NIEL* data below 200 MeV are taken from [SUM93]. The authors use the relativistic differential cross section for the PKA spectrum for Coulomb scattering formulated by [SEI56] and present a corrected form of equations; Cross section for the inelastic contribution and the recoil energy spectrum from MCNPX version 2.1.5.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation			1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			25 (70)	

#### 4.3.3 Neutrons

#### Interaction with Matter

Together with protons, neutrons form the most important contribution to the secondary particle flux in a heavy shielded device. Some aspects of hadron interaction with matter have been already discussed in the previous chapter. Due to the missing charge, neutrons do not experience the Coulomb repulsion and thus exothermal nuclear reactions can take place even for low energy neutrons. With decreasing velocity of the neutron *v* the probability increases that it is in the vicinity of a nucleus, thus one expects a (1/v)-dependence of the neutron capture cross section. This dependence can be observed for low energy neutrons and most nuclei, however, particularly in the energy range 1 to 100 eV it is superimposed by large resonances (see tab. 3 for a compilation of the most important nuclear reactions). Neutron capture reactions (n,  $\gamma$ ) are important wrt radiation damage, because they generate recoils with energies high enough to dislodge a lattice atom. This happens in a neutron energy range, where recoils generated by elastic scattering have not sufficient energy for producing a displacement (cf. chap. 4.3.1).

Energy Range of Incident	Main Nuclear Reactions for		
Particle	Neutrons	Protons	
0 to 1 keV	(n,γ)	-	
1 to 500 keV	(n,γ)	(p,n), (p,γ), (p,α)	
0.5 to 10 MeV	(n,α), (n,p)	(p,n),(p,α)	
10 to 50 MeV	(n,2n), (n,p), (n,np), (n,2p),	(p,2n), (p,n), (p,np), (p,2p),	
	(n,α)	(p,α)	

Tab. 3: Main nuclear reactions of neutrons and protons with medium heavy nuclei (25<A<80) [LIE91].

#### Recently Applied Methods for the Calculation of Neutron *NIEL*

A review of neutron *NIEL* calculations, which have been performed until 1997, can be found in [VAS97]. More recently Jun [JUN01] considered the contribution of secondary neutrons to the displacement damage in silicon for a typical space proton

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	26 (70)	

environment. Below a neutron energy of 150 MeV, the damage cross sections were computed by NJOY97 [FAR97] based on the recently evaluated Los Alamos National Library high energy cross section library [CHA99a]. Above 150 MeV, *NIEL* was computed by using a thin target approximation. A 1-cm slab of silicon with a normalised density of 0.01 atoms/barn/cm was modelled, and a pencil beam of neutrons through this slab was considered. The history tape of the Monte Carlo program MCNPX was analysed to calculated the mean damage energy per source particle. Using this method, at the 150 MeV boundary an approx. 25 % larger damage energy cross section was calculated than that obtained by NJOY97. This was attributed to spallation effects, which are included in MCNPX, whereas NJOY97 only accounts for elastic and inelastic scattering, and other types of particle emanating reactions such as (n,p), (n, $\alpha$ ). This highlights the importance of spallation reactions when computing *NIEL* in high neutron energy range.

#### 4.3.4 Electrons

Over the energy range of interest only coulombic events are important. Several approximations for Mott's formula, which describes the elastic cross section  $d\sigma/d\Omega$ , are used. For low Z materials (including silicon), Summers et al. [SUM93] used the McKinley-Feshbach approximation [MCK44], and for higher Z (> approx. 24) material the Curr form [CUR55] and the approximation of Dogget et al. [DOG56] were applied.

Lijian et al. [LIJ95] developed a fitting formula for the Mott differential cross section, which is based on the Rutherford cross section. A modified version of this formula has been employed in recent electron *NIEL* calculations and is given in [AKK01]. The modifications account for the screening effect of the electrons of the scattering atom.

# 4.3.5<sup>60</sup>Co Gamma Rays

In order to compare radiation induced effects due to the ionising and non-ionising energy deposition, electronic components are sometimes irradiated with <sup>60</sup>Co gamma rays and protons. However, <sup>60</sup>Co gamma quanta interact primarily via Compton scattering, and the secondary electrons have sufficiently high energies (up to 1 MeV) to displace a lattice atom. The calculation of *NIEL* for <sup>60</sup>Co radiation can be

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			27 (70)	

reduced to the calculation of electron *NIEL*, if the energy spectra of the secondary electrons generated in the device and the shielding are known. Akkermann et al. [AKK00] use the Heitler form of the differential cross section ds/dT for an energy transfer *T* to a free electron in a solid and account for the slowing down of the Compton electrons. The calculated electron spectra behind shieldings of thicknesses from 100  $\mu$ m to 2 mm deviate markedly from prior calculations by Summers et al. [SUM93].

#### 4.3.6 Partition Function

The fractions of energy imparted to ionisation and displacing collisions were calculated by Lindhard in the LSS (Lindhard screened potential scattering) theory [LIN63]. Several approximations for the Lindhard partition function Q(T) are used. An appropriate formulation has been noted by Robinson (cf. [AKK01], [JUN01],[VAS97]):

$$Q(T) = \frac{1}{1 + F_L \cdot (3.4008 \cdot \boldsymbol{e}^{1/6} + 0.40244 \cdot \boldsymbol{e}^{3/4} + \boldsymbol{e})}$$
(12)

for  $T \ge E_d$  and Q(T)=0 elsewhere; with

$$e = \frac{T}{E_L}$$

and

$$\begin{split} E_L &= 30.724 \cdot Z_R \cdot Z_L \cdot \left( Z_R^{2/3} \cdot Z_L^{2/3} \right)^{1/2} \cdot \frac{A_R + A_L}{A_L} \\ F_L &= \frac{0.0793 \cdot Z_R^{2/3} \cdot Z_L^{1/2} \cdot \left(A_R + A_L\right)^{3/2}}{\left( Z_R^{2/3} + Z_L^{2/3} \right)^{3/4} \cdot A_R^{3/2} \cdot A_L^{1/2}} \end{split}$$

 $A_R$  and  $Z_R$  are the atomic weight and number of the moving particle and  $A_L$  and  $Z_L$  the corresponding quantities for the lattice atoms.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			28 (70)	

#### 4.3.7 Displacement Energy

An appropriate choice of the displacement energy  $E_d$  seems to be important, at least for the calculation of electron *NIEL* at energies near displacement threshold. The low energy portion of the *NIEL* curve is shifted to higher energies as the displacement energy is increased (cf. fig. 9 in [MES99]). However, in their calculations of the total displacement energy for various ions in semiconductor materials Chilingarov et al. [CHI00] did not observe a strong dependence on the threshold energy.

Tab. 4 contains a compilation of commonly used values for  $E_d$ . The displacement energy is related to the binding energy of the atomic bond and is about twice the binding energy ([BRA94]; the accurate relationship can be found in [BAR91]). A first order value of the displacement energy may be calculated using an empirical relationship between  $E_d$  and the reciprocal lattice constant (Corbet and Bourgain; a revised form is given in [BAR91]).

Element/	Z		Displacement Energy [eV]						
Compound									
		[AKK01	[BAR91]	[BRA94]	[CHI00]	[MES99]	[SUM93]	VAS97a	
		]			(C)	(a)	(b)	(d)	
С	6		35		50	35			
Si	14	21		21	(12.9);	21	(12.9);	25	
					21		21		
SiC			21.8 ±						
			1.5 (e)						
Р	15					8.7			
Ga	31					10			
GaAs	31.33	10			10	10			
Ge	32			27.5		27.5			
As	33					10			
Y	39					20			
In	49					6.7			

(a) taken from [Bau62] and [BOE90]; GaAs calculated using Bragg's rule; values for Y and In are those for elements which are in a compound.

(b) upper value (21 eV) fits data much better than 12.9 eV.

(c) Si: 21 eV used in calculations and 12.9 eV used to estimate the accuracy of calculations.

(d) taken from [LIN87]; commonly used in the HEP community.

(e) experimentally determined.

Tab. 4: Displacement Energies  $E_d$  for various materials and compounds.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA		
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0		
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002		
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	29 (70)		

# **5** Outline of a Simulation Tool Prototype

#### 5.1 Calculation of Non-ionising Energy Deposition

There are many question marks concerning the general applicability of NIEL scaling. The uncertainty already starts when comparing the results of present *NIEL* calculations (involving e.g. different computer codes, various models for the interaction processes, and basic quantities). The existing proton *NIEL* data for silicon deviate by a factor of two in certain energy regions [MES01], even if only those data are selected, which have been gained by accounting for all major interaction processes (including inelastic events). It is even more difficult to assess *NIEL* curves for different materials, which have been obtained using different algorithmic approaches or different cross section libraries. Few or no *NIEL* calculations have been performed for other semiconductor materials, which become increasingly important (e.g. SiGe, GaAs, InP and related compounds). Obviously there is a need for a consistent set of *NIEL* data.

A data base containing pre-calculated *NIEL* data for different semiconductor materials could be used to predict parameter degradation of a device during a mission for the most simple case, when recoil equilibrium exists (i.e. the dimensions of the sensitive volume and the layers surrounding this volume are large compared to the range of recoils) and provided, that linear *NIEL* scaling holds.

The evaluation will comprise the following steps:

- 1. irradiate device with monoenergetic particles
- 2. measure parametric degradation
- 3. calculate device degradation versus displacement damage dose (assuming that the parameter degradation and *NIEL* have the same energy dependence)
- 4. determine radiation environment for mission (or time intervals of the mission)
- 5. calculate particle spectra behind shielding
- 6. calculate displacement damage dose for mission
- 7. predict onboard parameter degradation based on calculations (3) + (6).

In cases where large gradients of the non-ionising energy deposition can be expected (because recoil equilibrium does not exist) or local fluctuations of the energy deposition are interesting (e.g. the pixel-to-pixel variation in a CCD), the use

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation			1.0	
Universität zu Köln	Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			30 (70)	

of the material-specific *NIEL* is not sufficient for a reliable prediction of onboard performance. In such cases the total non-ionising energy deposition in a specified sensitive volume (or in multiple volumes) must be calculated, possibly both for an isotropic (or given) angular distribution of incident particles and normally incident particles (this will allow the comparison of the expected damage measured during ground tests and during flight). A suitable method will be discussed in chap. 5.3.

#### 5.2 Calculation of Parameter Degradation

Recently simulation studies [HUH01] on NIEL and defect formation in silicon (exposed to various types of hadron irradiation) lead to a fairly consistent description of the radiation effects in oxygenated silicon. However, the applied model makes use of many uncertain input parameters and ad hoc assumptions, and the standard Shockley-Read-Hall theory could not be applied. With respect to the present state of theoretical understanding, attempts to predict macroscopic device parameters by the detailed simulation of the entire damage process (including primary defect generation, annealing and migration, formation of stable defects and their occupancy, possible charge exchange reactions) might be generally not fruitful, even more when semiconductor materials with less known properties than that of silicon are considered. Furthermore such simulations require a detailed knowledge of the underlying physical processes and a simulation tool could only partly assist the user, thus being a research tool rather than an engineering tool (however, an engineering tool might provide the basis for further analysis by the calculation of the damage cascades and the resulting defect structure). Therefore empirical relations between the non-ionising energy loss and the resulting parameter degradation presently seems to be the most promising solution.

#### Empirical Relations Between NIEL and Degradation of Device Parameters

In many cases a simple linear *NIEL* scaling can be applied (if recoil equilibrium is achieved). It has been shown that the radiation induced dark (or leakage) current in silicon devices is independent of particle type and impurity concentration in the semiconductor, provided that *NIEL* exceeds approx. 10<sup>-4</sup> MeV·cm<sup>2</sup>/g, i.e. with respect to dark current increase the linear NIEL scaling holds for neutron, proton, pion and heavy ion radiation. Using the universal damage factor *K<sub>dark</sub>* [SRO00] it is even possible to estimate the dark current increase during a space mission without any ground testing.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects			Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abt	eilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report			31 (70)	

- There seems to be a quadratic dependence of radiation induced parameter changes on electron *NIEL* in certain cases. However, the situation is somewhat unclear ([SUM93] versus [SRO00]). In the case of GaAs solar cells and electron irradiation a good correlation was found, if *NIEL* was raised to the power of 1.7.
- Applying an efficiency function to the non-ionising part of the primary recoils energy lead to a good correspondence between the calculated dependence on the energy of incident protons and the energy dependence of measured minority lifetime damage coefficients of GaAs solar cells.

The relationship between NIEL and the resulting damage is dependent on the considered damage parameter and on the type of incident irradiation. At present a universal description is not possible and the simulation tool should provide (i) a power function scaling: (parameter degradation)  $\sim NIEL^{x}$ , (ii) the possibility to apply an efficiency function. Obviously there is some correlation – additionally to NIEL – between the energy of the primary recoils and the damage efficiency (reflecting the different annealing and evolution of defects due to the defect distribution). For further investigations the simulation tool should deliver the energy distribution of the recoils and some statistics (mean, median), allowing an estimation of the fraction of defects produced in energetic displacement cascades and in primary defects. A possible further "spin-off" of the simulation tool would be an output of the spatial three-dimensional defect distribution, which could be processed by other tools for the calculation of defects.

## 5.3 Algorithmic Approach for the Calculation of NIEL

The core of the simulation tool will calculate the non-ionising energy deposition in a semiconductor material by accounting for the energy of the primary recoils generated in the material by elastic and inelastic events (if any) and

- (a) applying the Lindhard partition Q(T) and additionally a given damage efficiency function x(T) to the primary recoils energy T; a binned energy distribution will be stored,
- (b) following up the history of each recoil in a given sensitive volume and its vicinity until the recoil energy decreases below the threshold energy  $E_{thr}$  for

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1	Study Report	Page:	32 (70)

displacing an lattice atom. Only Rutherford scattering will be taken into account for the production of NIEL.

Option (b) will be applied, if the geometry of the device (sensitive volume and the covering layers) must be taken into account. It is possible to extend option (b) by following up the history of each recoil until it comes to rest (within the sensitive volume) and by storing the (x,y,z)-positions of primary defects (vacancies and interstitials).

The calculations related to option (b) are very time-consuming, because a lot of recoils have to be considered. Furthermore in this case a Monte Carlo simulation is rather inefficient for two reasons:

(1) because the heavy recoils may have ranges up to approx. 100  $\mu$ m ( $\alpha$ -particles), the detailed calculation of recoil paths must be performed in a volume with dimensions of that size, and only a small part of the recoils will hit the (relatively small) sensitive volume. In order to improve statistics a grid of target volumes can be used, which are sufficiently spaced, such that events generated by the same particle in more than one target volume are negligible,

(2) inelastic events are relatively rare, but they are the main reason for fluctuations of the local non-ionising energy deposition. In order to improve statistics, a common practice in such cases is to sample each event channel with equal probability and assign statistical weights according to the true partial cross section.

Methods for the calculation of the primary recoil energy, the Lindhard partition function and an efficiency function are given in the literature and a selection is presented in chap. 4.3. However, a main concern is still the choice of a suitable model and the definition of required extensions to GEANT4 for the calculation of recoil energies due to high-energy hadron (particularly: proton) interactions. The still rapidly changing implementation status of interaction models and cross sections in GEANT4 has to be taken into account as well as the completeness wrt to target atoms considered, the energy range considered and the accuracy for that energy range.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	33 (70)

#### 5.4 Basic Functions of the Simulation Tool Prototype

The prototype of the simulation tool shall primarily allow the assessment of the core functionality, i.e. the calculation of the non-ionising energy deposition, and the dependence of the results on basic parameters (e.g. the displacement energy  $E_d$ ).

The user interface shall support the generation of *NIEL* curves (*NIEL* versus particle energy) for an arbitrary semiconductor material. This will allow the comparison with literature *NIEL* data.

It shall be possible to select a damage efficiency function.

It shall be possible to scale pre-calculated *NIEL* curves by applying a function  $C \cdot NIEL^x$ , where C is a constant. This will support the comparison of the calculated *NIEL* curves with the energy dependence of experimental damage factors.

It shall be possible to define a simple device geometry (sensitive volume/covering layers). This will allow to check the calculations of the local ionising energy deposition and its variance.

In view of the limited timeframe for the development of the prototype and the required amount of validation steps it might be reasonable to constrain the investigations to the most important (and most difficult) case, i.e. the radiation damage due to protons.

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package	1 Study Report	Page:	34 (70)

## Appendix: Documentation of the Literature Survey

The following section summarises the reference outcome of the literature survey, that was found to be related to the project objectives. Appendix I is a list of all references found. Appendix II gives the filtered publications related to theory and algorithms that are preferably dealing with NIEL, displacement damage, SEUs and particle interaction in general.

# Appendix I: Project Related References

ADA91 - Adams, L., Harboe-Sorensen, R., Holmes-Siedle, A. G., Ward, A. K. and Bull, R.; Measurement of SEU and total dose in geostationary orbit under normal and solar flare conditions. IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, NS-38, 1686-1692 (1991)

ADA96 - Adams, J. H., Beliaev, A. A., Kuznetsov, N. V., Nymmik, R. A. and Smith, E. C.; Occurrence frequency of single event upsets induced on geosynchronous orbit: Model calculations and TGRS-1 experience. Radiation Measurements, 26, No. 3, 509-512 (1996)

ADE00 - Adell, P., Schrimpf, R. D., Barnaby H. J., Marec, R., Chatry, C., Calvel, P., Barillot, C. and Mion, O.; Analysis of single-event transients in analog circuits. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2616-2623 (2000)

AKK01 - Akkermann, A., Barak, J., Chadwick, M. B., Levison, J., Murat, M. Lifshitz, Y.; Updated NIEL calculation for estimating the damage induced by particles and gamma-rays in Si and GaAS. Rad. Phys. Chem., 62 Issue 4, 301-310 (2001)

ALU91 - Alurralde, M., Victoria, M., Caro, A., Gavillet, D.; Nuclear and damage effects in Si produced by irradiations with medium energy protons. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1210-1215 (1991)

AMB02 - Ambrosi, R. M., Short, A. D. T., Abbey, A. F., Wells, A. A., Smith, D. R.; The effect of proton damage on the X-Ray spectral response of MOS CCDs for the Swift X-Ray Telescope. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 482, 644-652 (2002)

ANG95 - Angelescu, T., Cheremukhin, A., E., Ghete, V. M., Ghiordanescu, N., Golutvin, I. A., Lazanu, S., Lazanu, I., Mihul, A., Radu, A., Susova, N. Yu., Vasilescu, A. and Zamyatin, N. I.; Radiation hardness studies on silicon detectors in fast neutron fields. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 357, 55-63 (1995)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		35 (70)	

ANG98 - Angarano, M. M., Bder, A., de Palma, M. and Raso, G.; Measured characteristics and SPICE simulation of an n+ on n type Si strip detector before and after neutron irradiation. 3rd ROSE Workshop on Radiation Hardening of Silicon Detectors, DESY Hamburg, 12-14 Feb., 1998

ANG99 - Angarano, M. M., Bder, A., de Palma, M., Raso, G.; Characteristics and SPICE simulation of an n+ on n type Si strip detector before and after neutron irradiation. submitted to NIM A (1999)

APO00 - Apostolakis, J., Giani, S., Urban, L., Maire, M., Bagulya, A. V., Grichine, V. M.; An implementation of ionisation energy loss in very thin absorbers for the GEANT4 simulation package. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 453, 597-605 (2000)

ARM99 - Armstrong, T. W., Colborn, B. L., Ramsey, B. D.; Initial estimates of radiation backgrounds for the Hard X-Ray Telescope (HXT) on the planned Constellation X-Mission. Science Applications International Corp. Report No. SAIC-TN-990115R3 (1999)

ARU98 - Aruga, T.; Nuclear data for analysis of radiation damage processes. http://wwwndc.tokai.jaeri.go.jp/nds/proceedings/1998/aruga\_t.pdf (1998)

AST01 - American Society for Testing and Materials; Standard practice for characterizing neutron energy fluence spectra in terms of an equivalent monoenergetic neutron fluence for radiation-hardness testing of electronics. ASTM Standard E722-94 (2001)

AVE98 - Averback, R. S. and Diaz de la Rubia, T.; Displacement damage in irradiated metals and semiconductors. Solid State Physics, 51, 291-402 (1998)

BAI01 - Bailey, S. G., Long, K. J., Curtis, H. B., Gardner, B., Davis, V., Messenger, S. and Walters, R.; Solar array verification analysis tool (SAVANT) developed. http://www.lerc.nasa.gov/WWW/RT1998/5000/5410bailey.html, download 29.05.2001

BAR00 - Barde, S., Ecoffet, R., Costeraste, J., Meygret, A., Hugon, X.; Displacement damage effects in InGaAs detectors: Experimental results and semi-empirical model prediction. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci, 47 No. 6, 2466-2472 (2000)

BAR00a - Barnaby, H. J., Cirba, C. R., Schrimpf, R. D., Fleetwood, D. M., Pease, R. L., Shaneyfelt, M. R., Turflinger, T., Krieg, J. F. and Maher, M. C.; Origins of totaldose response variability in linear bipolar microcircuits. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2342-2349 (2000)

BAR91 - Barry, A., Lehmann, B., Fritsch, D., Bräunig, D.; Energy dependence of electron damage and displacement threshold energy in 6C silicon carbide. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1111-1115 (1991)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		36 (70)	

BAR95 - Barry, A. L., Houdayer, A. J., Hinrichsen, P. F., Letourneau, W. G., Vincent, J.; The energy dependence of lifetime damage constants in GaAs LEDs for 1 - 500 MeV protons. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 42 No. 6, 2104-2107 (1995)

BAR96 - Barnaby, H., Tausch, H. J., Turfler, R., Cole, P., Baker, P. and Pease, R. L.; Analysis of bipolar linear circuit response mechanisms for high and low dose rate total dose irradiations. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 43 No. 6 Part 1, 3040-3048 (1996)

BAS99 - Bashkirov, V., F., Kuznetsov, N., V. and Nymmik, R., A.; An analysis of the SEU rate of microcircuits exposed by the various components of space radiation. Radiation Measurements, 30, 427-433 (1999)

BAT95 - Bates, S. J., Furetta, C., Glaser, M., Lemeilleur, F., León-Florián, E., Gößling, C., Kaiser, B., Rolf, A., Wunstorf, R., Feick, H., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G., Moll, M., Taylor, G., Chilingarov, A.; Pion-induced damage in silicon detectors. CERN Special Publication ECP/95-26, 7 November 1995 (1995)

BAT97 - Bates, R. L., Campbell, M., D'Auria, S., Da Vià, C., O'Shea, V., Raine, C. and Smith, K. M.; Recent results on GaAs detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 392, 269-273 (1997)

BAT97a - Bates, R., Da Via, C., O'Shea, V., Pickfd, A., Raine, C., Smith, K.; Radiation induced damage in GaAs paticle detectors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 44, 1705-1707 (1997)

BAU62 - Bauerlein, R.; Displacement thresholds in semiconductors. in Radiation Damage in Solids, Ed. By D. S. Billington, Van Nordstrand, New York (1962)

BEA99 - Beattie, L., Brodbeck, T. J., Chilingarov, A., Hughes, G., McGarry, S., Ratoff, P. and Sloan, T.; Carrier lifetimes in heavily irradiated silicon diodes. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 421, 502-511 (1999)

BER97 - Beringer, J., Borer, K., Mommsen, R. K., Monnier, E., Nicherson, R. B., Weidberg, A. R., Hou, H. Q., Lear, K. L.; Radiation hardness and life time studies of LEDs and VCSELs for the optical readout of the ATLAS SCT. ATLAS/ INDET-NO-183 (1997)

BIS00a - Bisello, D., Wyss, J., Candelori, A., Kaminsky, A., Pantano, D.; Radiation damage of standard and oxygenated silicon diodes by 16 and 27 MeV protons. Presented at the Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference in Lion (October 15-20, 2000) (2000)

BLA01 - Blachetta, N.; Silicon detectors: Radiation issues. NN (2000)

BLA91 - Blaes, B. R., Soli, G. A. and Buehler, M. G.; Bench-level characterization of a CMOS standard-cell D-latch using alpha particle sensitive test circuits. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1486-1492 (1991)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		37 (70)	

BLI91 - Blin-Stoyle, R. J.; Nuclear and particle physics. First Edition, Chapman & Hall, (London, New York, Tokyo, Melbourne, Madras) (1991)

BOE90 - Boer, K. W.; Survey of semiconductor physics. Van Nordstrand, New York (1990)

BOH96 - Bohmayr, W.; Simulation der Ionenimplantation in kristalline Siliziumstrukturen. Thesis Work, Wien, 1996; Fakultät für Elektrotechnik, Technische Universität Wien (1996)

BOU02 - Bourgoin, J. C., Zazaoui, M.; Irradiation-induced degradation in solar cell: Characterization of recombination centres. Semicond. Sci. Technol., 17, 453-460 (2002)

BRA94 - Bräunig, H., Wulf, F.; Atomic displacement and total ionizing dose damge in semiconductors. Radiat. Phys. Chem., 43 No.1/2, 105-127 (1994)

BRU67 - Brucker, G. J.; Correlation of radiation damage in silicon transistors bombarded by electrons, protons and neutrons. Proc. of the Symposium on Radiation Effects in Semiconductor Components, Toulouse 1967

BRU90 - Brumbi, Detlef; Bauelemente-Degradation durch radioaktive Strahlung und deren Konsequenzen für den Entwurf strahlenresistenter elektronischer Schaltungen. Thesis Work, Bochum, 1990; Schriftenreihe des Instituts für Elektronik, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Heft No. 901/5, 1-129 (1990)

BUE68 - Buehler, M. G.; Design curves for predicting fast neutron induced resistivity changes in silicon. Proc. IEEE, October 1968, 1741 ff. (1968)

BUE85 - Buehler, M. G., Moore, B. T. and Nixon, R. H.; Parameter extraction from spaceborne MOSFETS. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-32, 4237-4243 (1985)

BUI95 - Buisson, J., Gaillard, R., Jaureguy, J.-C., Poirault, G.; Effets de deplacement indiuts par les protons de grande energie dans les dispositifs electroniques semiconducteures. Proc. RADECS 95, 19-24 (1995)

BUR86 - Burke, E. A.; Energy dependence of proton-induced displacement damage in silicon. IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, NS-33, 1276-1281 (1986)

CES00 - Ceschia, M., Paccagnella, A., Turrini, M., Candelori, A., Ghidini, G. and Wyss, J.; Heavy ion irradiation of thin gate oxides. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2648-2655 (2000)

CHA02 - Chadwick, M. B.; Nuclear models for radiotherapy applications. Los Alamos National Laboratory, LA-UR-98-1157 (2002)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	38 (70)

CHA99 - Chadwick, M. B., Normand, E.; Use of new ENDF/B-VI proton and neutron cross section for single event upset calculations. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 46, 1386-1394 (1999)

CHA99a - Chadwick, M. B., Young, P. G., MacFarlane, R. E., Moller, P., Hale, G. M., Little, R. C., Koning, A. J., Chiba, S.; LA150 Documention of Cross Sections, Heating, and Damage: Part A (Incindent Neutrons) and Part B (Incident Protons). Los Alamos National Laboratory Report LA-UR-99-1222 (1999)

CHE - Chen, Y., Obradovic, B., Morris, M., Wang, G., Balamurugan, G., Li, D., Tasch, A. F., Kamenitsa, D., McCoy, W., Baumann, S., Bleier, R., Sieloff, D., Dyer, D., Zeitzoff, P.; Monte Carlo simulation of heavy species (indium and germanium) ion implantation into silicon.

CHI00 - Chilingarov, A., Lipka, D., Meyer, J. S., Sloan, T.; Displacement energy for various ions in particle detector materials. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 449, 277-287 (2000)

CHI97 - Chilingarov, A., Meyer, J. S., Sloan, T.; Radiation damage due to NIEL in GaAS particle detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 395, 35-44 (1997)

CHI97a - Chilingarov, A. and Sloan, T.; Operation of heavily irradiated silicon detectors under forward bias. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 399, 35-37 (1997)

CHI97b - Chilingarov, A. and Sloan, T.; Radiation damage of Pi-Ny GaAs structures. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 388, 395-398 (1997)

CHU99 - Chumakov, A. I., Nikiforov, A. T., Telets, V. A., Gerasimov, V. F., Yanenko, A. V. and Sogoyan, A. V.; IC space radiation effects experimental simulation and estimation methods. Radiation Measurements, 30, 547-552 (1999)

CIN00 - Cindro, V., Kramberger, G., Mikuz, M., Tadel, M. and Zontar, D.; Biasdependent radiation damage in high resistivity silicon diodes irradiated with heavy charged particles. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 450, 288-296 (2000)

CLO00 - Clowdsley, M. S., Wilson, J. W., Heinbockel, J. H., Tripathi, R. K., Singleterry Jr., R. C. and Shinn, J. L.; An improved elastic and nonelastic neutron transport algorithm for space radiation. NASA Special Publication TP-2000-210299 (2000)

COH00 - Cohen, M. and David, J.-P.; Radiatio-induced dark current in CMOS active pixel sensors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2485-2491 (2000)

CON71 - Conrad, E. E.; Considerations in establishing a standard for neutron displacement energy effects in semiconductors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-18, 200-206 (1971)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	39 (70)

CUR55 - Curr, R. M.; The coulomb scattering of high energy electrons and positrons by nuclei. Proc. Phys. Soc., A68, 156-164 (1955)

CUR66 - Curtis, O.; Effects of oxygen and dopant on lifetime and carrier concentration in neutron-irradiated silicon. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-13, 33-40 (1966)

CUR75 - Curtis, O.; Effect of point defects on electrical and optical properties of semiconductors. In: Crawford and Slifkin, Vol. 2, 257-332 (1975)

CUR98 - Curtis, S. B., Vazquez, M. E., Wilson, J. W., Atwell, W., Kim, M and Capala, J.; Cosmic ray hit frequencies in critical sites in the central nervous system. Adv. Space Res., 22, No. 2, 197-207 (1998)

DAB95 - Dabrowski, W.; Radiation damage in Si detectors and front-end electronics. Nuclear Physics B (Proc. Suppl.), 44, 463-467 (1995)

DAL88 - Dale, C. J., Marshall, P. W., Burke, E. A., Summers, G. P. and Wolicki, E. A.; High energy electron induced displacement damage in silicon. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-35, 1208-1214 (1988)

DAL89 - Dale, C.J., Marshall, P. W., Burke, E. A., Summers, G. P., Bender, G. E.; The generation lifetime damage factor and its variance in Si. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 36 No. 6, 1872-1881 (1989)

DAL91 - Dale, C. J. and Marshall, P. W.; Displacement damage in Si imagers for space applications. SPIE Proceedings, 1447, 70-87 (1991)

DAL93 - Dale, C., Marshall, P., Cummings, B., Shamey, L. and Holland, A.; Displacement damage effects in mixed particle environments for shielded spacecraft CCDs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 40, No. 6, 1628-1637 (1993)

DAL94 - Dale, C. J., McNulty, P. J., Marschall, P. W., Burke, E. A.; A comparison of Monte Carlo and analytic treatments of displacement damage in Si microvolumes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 41 No. 6, 1974-1983 (1994)

DAM97 - Damerell, C. J. S.; Radiation damage in CCDs used as particle detectors. ICFA Spring 1997 (1997)

DAV87 - Davies, G., Lightowlers, E. C., Newman, R. C. and Oates, A. S.; A model for radiation damage effects in carbon doped crystalline silicon. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 2, 524 (1987)

DEL97 - Della Marina, R., Passeri, D., Ciampolini, P. and Bilei, G. M.; Silicon strip detectors for LHC: Comprehensive process and device analysis. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 392, 178-182 (1997)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	40 (70)

DEN00 - Dentan, M.; Radiation effects on electronic components and circuits. CERN Training, April 10-12, 2000 (2000)

DEN01 - Dennerl, K., Briel, G., Freyberg, M. J., Haberl, F., Meidinger, N., Zavlin, V. E.; CTI history of the EPIC pn camera. Proceedings of the Symposium on "New Visions of the X-ray Univers in the XMM-Newton and Chandra Era", 26-30 November 2001, ESTEC, The Netherlands (2001)

DEZ97 - Dezillie, B., Lemeilleur, F., Glaser, M., Casse, G.-L. and Leroy, C.; Experimental results on radiation induced bulk damage effects in float-zone and epitaxial silicon detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 386, 162-166 (1997)

DJA98 - Djahli, F. and Kaabi, L.; A macro model in SMART SPICE to study MOSFET degradations with the CP technique. Microelectronics Journal, 29, 805-811 (1998)

DOD00 - Dodd, P. E., Shaneyfelt, M. R., Walsh, D. S., Schwank, J. R., Hash, G. L., Loemker, R. A., Draper, B. L. and Winokur, P. S.; Single-event upset and snapback in silicon-on-insulator devices and integrated circuits. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2165-2174 (2000)

DOG56 - Dogget, J. A., Spencer, L. V.; Elastic scattering of electrons and positrons by point nuclei. Phys. Rev., 103, 1597-1601 (1956)

DYE02 - Dyer, C. S., Hopkinson, G. R.; Space radiation effects for future technologies and missions. Report QINETIC/KI/SPACE/TR010690/1.1; www.integral.soton.ac.uk/dera/wp1\_nt/Document\_text.html (2002)

DYE96 - Dyer, C. S., Truscott, P. R., Peerless, C. L.; Simulation of spacecraft secondary particle emission and their energy deposition in CCD X-ray detectors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 43 No. 6, 2709-2714 (1996)

FAC - Faccio, F.; Cots for the LHC radiation environment : The rules of the game. CERN

FAR97 - MacFarlane, R. E., Muir, D. W.; NJOY97.0: Code system for producing pointwise and multigroup neutron and photon cross sections from ENDF/B data. RSIC PSR-368 (1997)

FEI00 - Feick, H.; Fast proton damage in bulk silicon. MURI Annual Review, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, October 10-11, 2000 (2000)

FEI01 - Feick, H., Weber, E. R.; Radiation-induced defects in oxygen-enriched silicon detector materials. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 473, 114-118 (2001)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		57/01/NL/PA
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		41 (70)

FEI96 - Feick, H., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G. and Moll, M.; Long term damage studies using silicon detectors fabricated from different starting materials and irradiated with neutrons, protons, and pions. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 377, 217-223 (1996)

FEI97 - Feick, H.; Radiation tolerance of silicon particle detectors for high-energy physics experiments. Thesis Work, Hamburg, 1997; Fachbereich Physik, Universität Hamburg (1997)

FER00 - Ferlet-Cavrois, V., Colladant, T., Paillet, P., Leray, J. L., Musseau, O., Schwank, J. R., Shaneyfelt, M. R., Pelloie, J. L. and du Port de Poncharra, J.; Worstcase bias during total dose irradiation of SOI transistors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47, No. 6, 2183-2188 (2000)

FIL92 - Filges, Detlef; Moderne Monte-Carlo Teilchentransport-Simulationsverfahren für sicherheitstechnische Anwendungen und Fragestellungen in der Beschleunigertechnik und in der Raumfahrt. Berichte des Forschungszentrums Jülich, Institut für Kernphysik; Jül-2609 (1992)

FRE96 - Frederickson, A. R.; Upsets related to spacecraft charging. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 43, No. 2, 426-441 (1996)

FRE99 - Fretwurst, E., Kuhnke, E., Moll, M. and Lindström, G.; Relation between microscopic defects and macroscopic changes in silicon detector properties after hadron irradiation. In: Claeys, C. (Ed.), Proc. 1st International Workshop on Defect Engineering of Advanced Semiconductor Devices, Santorini, Greece, April 1999, Sect. "Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing", 39-49 (1999)

GAT93 - Gates, M. M. and Lewis, M. J.; Spacecraft natural radiation dose control with optimized shielding and orbital selection. 31st Aerospace Sciences Meeting, Meeting & Exhibit, January 11-14, 1993, Reno, NV (1993)

GEO98 - Georgii, R., Meißl, R., Hajdas, W., Henschel, H., Gräf, H.-D., Lichti, G. G., von Neumann-Cosel, P., Richter, A. and Schönfelder, V.; Influence of radiation damage on BGO scintillation properties. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 413, 50-58 (1998)

GIL97 - Gill, K., Hall, G., MacEvoy, B.; Bulk damage effects in irradiated silicon detektots due to clustered divacancies. J. Appl. Phys., 82, 126-136 (1997)

GIL98 - Gill, K., Arbet-Engels, V., Cervelli, G., Grabit, R., Mommaert, C., Stefanini, G., Vasey, F., Troska, J.; Pion radiation damage in InGaAs p-i-n photodiodes. CMS Note 1998/047 (1998)

GIN89 - Van Ginneken, A.; Non-ionizing energy deposition in silicon for radiation damage studies. Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, Report FN-522 (1989)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nukl	earchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	42 (70)

GRA98 - Graves, R. J., Cirba, C. R., Schrimpf, R. D., Milanowski, R. J., Michez, A., Fleetwood, D. M, Witczak, S. C. and Saigne, F.; Modelling low dose rate effects in irradiated bipolar oxides. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-45, 2352-2365 (1998)

GRI91 - Griffin, P. J., Kelly, J. G., Luerra, T. F., Barry, A. L., Lazo, M. S.; Neutron damage equivalence in GaAs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38 No. 6, 1216-1224 (1991)

GRI93 - Griscom, D. L., Gingerich, M. E. and Fiebele, E. J.; Model for the dose, dose-rate and temperature dependence of radiation-induced loss in optical fibers. Proc. RADECS'93, St. Malo, September 1993, France, IEEE Catalog No. 93-TH-0616-3, 257-261 (1993)

HAS88 - Hashimoto, T., Rehn, L. E., Okamoto, P. R.; Freely migrating-defect production during irradiation at elevated temperatures. Phys. Rev. B, 38 No. 18, 12868-1287 (1988)

HAZ00 - Hazucha, P. and Svensson, C.; Impact of CMOS technology scaling on the atmospheric neutron soft error rate. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2586-2594 (2000)

HIS98 - Hisamatsu, T., Kawasaki, O., Matsuda, S. and Tsukamoto, K.; Photoluminescence study of silicon solar cells irradiated with large fluence electrons or protons. Radiation Physics and Chemistry, 53, 25-30 (1998)

HOL91 - Holland, A., Holmes-Siedle, A., Johlander, B., Adams, L.; Techniques for minimizing space proton damage in scientific charge coupled devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38 No. 6, 1663-1670 (1991)

HOP00a - Hopkinson, G. R.; Proton-induced changes in CTE for N-channel CCDs and the effect on star tracker performance. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2460-2465 (2000)

HOP00b - Hopkinson, G. R.; Radiation effects in CMOS active pixel sensors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2480-2484 (2000)

HOP96 - Hopkinson, G. R., Dale, C. J., Marshall, P. W.; Proton effects in chargecoupled devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 43 No. 2, 614-627 (1996)

HUH00 - Huhtinen, M., Faccio, F.; Computational method to estimate single upset rates in an accelerator environment. Nucl. Instr. And Meth. A, 450, 155-172 (2000)

HUH01 - Huhtinen, M.; Simulation of non-ionising energy loss and defect formation in silicon. ROSE/TN/2001-02 (2001)

HUH01a - Huhtinen, M.; Simulation of defect formation in different hadron radiation environments. Presented at Si-RadHard Workshop, CERN, 29. November 2001 (2001)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Al	bteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	43 (70)

HUH93 - Huhtinen, M., Aarnio, P. A.; Pion induced displacement damge in silicon devices. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 335, 580-582 (1993)

HUH99 - Huhtinen, M.; Displacement damage - What it is. CMS COTS Workshop, 16.-17. November 1999 (1999)

INT1998.03.30 - Internet; HZETRN - A free space radiation transport and shielding program. http://www.cosmic.uga.edu/abstracts/lar-15225.html, download: 30.03.1998

INT1998.11.03 - Internet; IPS radio & space services. http://www.ips.gov.au/papers/richard/ , download: 11.03.1998

INT1999.01.05 - Internet; Ray-tracing Monte Carlo simulations of the ISOCAM LW CCD. http://www.estec.esa.nl/wmww/wma/ISO/Raytracing.html, download: 05.01.1999

INT1999.01.25a - Internet; NIEL scaling. http://www.cern.ch/RD11/rkb/PH14pp/node124.html, dowload 25.01.1999

INT1999.01.25b - Internet; Radiation measures and units. http://www.cern.ch/RD11/rkb/PH14pp/node154.html, dowload 25.01.1999

INT2000.05.19 - Internet; Devices tested for displacement damage. http://flick.gsfc.nasa.gov/radhome/displace.htm, download 19.05.2000

INT2000.05.20 - Internet; Compute 1-MeV electron equivalents for Si and GaAs solar cells following methods prescribed in the JPL Green and Blue Books. http://www.spacerad.com/m206.html, download: 20.05.2000

INT2000.05.22a - Internet; ATLAS at Lancaster - Radiation studies. http://www.lancs.ac.uk/users/spc/research/particle/atlas3.htm, download: 22.05.2000

INT2000.05.22b - Internet; Radiation hardness. http://ppewww.ph.gla.ac.uk/preprints/97/05/psd1/node6.html, download: 22.05.2000

INT2002 - Internet; . http://www.atlas.uni-wuppertal.de/optolink/fluences.html (2002)

JOH00 - Johnston, A. H.; Radiation damage of electronic and optoelectronic devices in space. Presented on the 4th International Workshop on Radiation Effects on Semiconductor Devices for Space Application, Tsukuba, Japan, October 11-13, 2000 (2000)

JOH00b - Johnston, A. H. and Miyahara, T. F.; Characterization of proton damage in light-emitting diodes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2500-2507 (2000)

JOH98 - Johnston, A. H.; Radiation effects in advanced microelectronics technologies. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 45, 1339-1354 (1998)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	44 (70)

JUN01 - Jun, I.; Effects of secondary particles on the total dose and displacement damage in space proton environments. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 48, 162-175 (2001)

KAR00 - Karna, S. P., Kurtz, H. A. Shedd, W. M. and Pugh, R. D.; Microscopic mechanisms of electron trapping by self-trapped holes and protons in amorphous SiO2. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2311-2315 (2000)

KAU91 - Kaul, N., Bhuva, B. L. and Kerns, S. E.; Simulation of SEU transients in CMOS Ics. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1514-1520 (1991)

KHA00 - Khanna, S. M., Estan, D., Liu, H. C., Gao, M., Buchanan, M. and SpringThorpe, A. J.; 1-15 MeV proton and alpha particle radiation effects on GaAs quantum well light emitting diodes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2508-2514 (2000)

KHA99 - Khamidullina, N. M., Kuznetsov, N. V., Pichkhadze, K. M. and Popov, V. D.; Predictions of integrated circuit serviceability in space radiation fields. Radiation Measurements, 30, 633-638 (1999)

KIM95 - Kim, Myung-Hee Yoon; Calculations of the interactions of energetic ions with materials for protection of computer memory and biological systems. Thesis work (PH.D.), The College of William and Mary, 1995, In: Dissertation Abstracts International, ADS Astronomy Abstract Service, 56-11 Sect. B, 6144 (1995)

KIN55 - Kinchin, G. H. and Pease, R. S.; The displacement of atoms in solids by radiation. Reports on Progress in Physics, 18, 1-51 (1955)

KIN55 - Kinchin, G. H., Pease, R. S.; The displacement of atoms in solids by irradiation. Reports on Progress in Physics, 18, 1-51 (1955)

KUH00 - Kuhnke, M., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G.; Microscopic studies on various silicon materials irradiated with different high energetic particles. Proceeding manuscript submitted to the second ENDEASD workshop, Kista/Stockholm, June, 2000 (ROSE/TN/2000-04) (2000)

KUH01 - Kuhnke, M., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G.; Defect generation in crystalline silicon irradiated with high energy particles. ROSE/TN/2001-01; submitted to Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A (2001)

KUZ96a - Kuznetsov, N. V. and Nymmik, R. A.; Estimation of the LET threshold of single event upset of microelectronics in experiments with Cf-252. Radiation Measurements, 26, No. 3, 527-530 (1996)

KUZ96b - Kuznetsov, N. V. and Nymmik, R. A.; Single event upsets of spacecraft microelectronics exposed to solar cosmic rays. Radiation Measurements, 26, No. 6, 959-965 (1996)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	45 (70)

LAB98 - LaBel, K. A., Johnston, A. H., Barth, J. L., Reed, R. A. and Barnes, C. E.; Emerging radiation hardness assurance (RHA) issues: A NASA approach for space flight programs. http://flick.gsfc.nasa.gov/radhome/papers/RHA98.pdf, download: 1998, 1-12 (1998)

LAN96 - Langworthy, J. B.; The effects of critical charge variance on space upset rate. Radiation Measurements, 26, No. 3, 503-508 (1996)

LAW97 - Lawson, C. and Attia, J. O.; Radiation effects on DC-DC converters using a novel SPICE model of power MOSFETs. Proc. of The First National Student Conf., NASA University Research Centers at Minority Institutions; Document ID 19970028680 N, 138-141 (1997)

LAZ97a - Lazanu, I., Lazanu, S., Biggeri, U., Borchi, E. and Bruzzi, M.; Non-ionising energy loss of pions in thin silicon samples. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 388, 370-374 (1997)

LAZ97b - Lazanu, I., Lazanu, S., Biggeri, U., Borchi, E. and Bruzzi, M.; Model predictions for the NIEL of high energy pions in Si and GaAs. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 394, 232-234 (1997)

LAZ98 - Lazanu, S. and Lazanu, I.; Si, GaAs and diamond damage in pion fields with application to LHC. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 419, 570-576 (1998)

LAZ99 - Lazanu, S., Lazanu, I.; Analytical approximations for the Lindhard equations describing radiation effects. Preprint submitted to Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A (1999)

LEE00 - Lee, Y.-O., Chang, J., Choi, T. and Kim, M.-H.; Parameterization and optical model analyses of proton-nucleus cross sections for space shielding. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2435-2441 (2000)

LEG99 - Legrain, R., Lelièvre, F., Vuillier, S.; Estimates of the radiation damage induced by a proton beam in the window of an accelerometr driven system. www.fjfi.cvut.cz/con\_adtt99/papers/P-C22.pdf (1999)

LEN98 - Lenahan, P. M., Conley, J. F.; A comprehensive physically based predictive model for radiation damage in MOS systems. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 45 No. 6, 2413-2423 (1998)

LEN99 - Lenahan, P. M., Mele, J. J., Conley, Jr., J. E., Lowry, R. K. and Woodbury, D.; Predicting radiation response from process parameters: Verification of a physically based predictive model. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-46, 1534-1543 (1999)

LER99 - Leroy, C., Roy, P., Casse, G., Glaser, M., Grigoriev and E., Lemeilleur, F.; Study of charge transport in silicon detectors: Non-irradiated and irradiated. Nuclear Physics B (Proc. Suppl.), 78, 650-656 (1999)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	46 (70)

LIE91 - Lieser, K. H.; Einführung in die Kernchemie. 3rd edition, VCH, Weinheim, New York, Basel, Cambridge (1991)

LIJ95 - Lijan, J., Qing, H., Zhenming, L.; Analytic fitting to the Mott cross section of electrons. Rad. Phys. Chem., 45, 235-245 (1995)

LIN00 - Lindström, G. et al.; Radiation hard silicon detectors - Development by the RD48 (ROSE) collaboration. Proc. 4th STD Hiroshima Conference, Hiroshima, Japan, 22.-25. March 2000. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 466, 308-326 (2000)

LIN01 - Lindström, G. et al.; Developments for radiation hard silicon detectors by defect engineering - Results by the CERN RD48 (ROSE) collaboration. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 465, 60-69 (2001)

LIN63 - Lindhard, J., Nielsen, V., Scharff, M., Thomson, P. V.; Integral equations governing radiation effects. Mat. Fys. Medd. Dan. Vid. Selsk., 33 No. 10, 1-41 (1963)

LIN72 - Van Lint, V. A. J., Leadon, R. E. and Colwell, J. F.; Energy dependence of displacement effects in semiconductors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 19 No. 6, 181-185 (1972)

LIN87 - Van Lint, V. A. J.; The physics of radiation damage in particle detectors. Nuc. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 253, 453-459 (1987)

LIN99 - Lindström, G., Moll, M., Fretwurst, E.; Radiation hardness of silicon detectors - a challenge from high-energy physics. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 426, 1-15 (1999)

LOQ00 - Loquet, J.-G., David, J.-P., Briand, R. and Fouillat, P.; Calculation of heavy ion induced leakage current in n-MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2656-2661 (2000)

LUE87 - Luera, T. F., Kelly, J. G., Stein, H. J., Lazo, M. S., Lee, C. E., Dawson, L. R.; Neutron damage equivalence for silicon, silicon dioxide, and GaAs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-34, 1557-1563 (1987)

MAR00 - Marka, Z., Singh, S. K., Wang, W., Lee, S. C., Kavich, J., Glebov, B., Rashkeev, S. N., Karmarkar, A. P., Albridge, R. G., Pantelides, S. T., Schrimpf, R. D., Fleetwood, D. M. and Tolk, N. H.; Characterization of X-ray radiation damage in Si/SiO2 structures using second-harmonic generation. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2256-2261 (2000)

MAR89 - Marshall, P. W., Dale, C. J., Campbell, A. B., Summers, G. P., Palmer, T., Zuleeg, R.; Proton, neutron and electron induced displacement damage in germanium. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 36, 1882-1888 (1989)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	47 (70)

MAR90 - Marshall, P. W., Dale, C. J., Summers, G. P. and Bender, G. E.; Proton induced displacement damage distributions and extremes in silicon micro-volumes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-37, 1776-1783 (1990)

MAR99 - Marshall, C. J., Marshall, P. W.; Proton effects and test issues for satellite designers; Part B: Displacement damage effects. NSREC Short Course 1999, Norfolk, Virginia (1999)

MAT96 - Matheson, J., Robbins, M., Watts, S.; The effect of radiation induced defects on the performance of high resistivity silicon diodes. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 377, 224-227 (1996)

MCK48 - McKinley, W. A., Feshbach, H.; The Coulomb scattering of relativistic electrons by nuclei. Phys. Rev., 74, 1759-1763 (1948)

MCP97 - McPherson, M., Jones, B. K. and Sloan, T.; Effects of radiation damage in silicon p-i-n photodiodes. Semicond. Sci. Technol., 12, 1187-1194 (1997)

MEH96 - Mehta, G. K.; Materials modification with high energy heavy ions. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 382, 335-342 (1996)

MEI00 - Meidinger, N., Schmalhofer, B., Strüder, L.; Particle and X-ray damage in pn-CCDs. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 439, 319-336 (2000)

MES01 - Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Walters, R. J., Summers, G. P. and Xapsos, M. A.; NIEL and damage correlations for high energy protons in gallium arsenide devices. Presented at the 38th IEEE Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects Conference, Vancouver, BC., July 16-20 (2001)

MES79 - Messenger, G. C.; Conductivity modulation effects in diffused resistors at very high dose rate levels. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-26, 4725-4729 (1979)

MES97 - Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Walters, R. J., Summers, G. P.; Proton displacement damage and ionizing dose for shielded devices in space. IEEE Trans. on Nucl. Sci. 44 2169-2173 (1997)., 44, 2169-2173 (1997)

MES99 - Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Summers, G. P., Xapsos, M. A., Walters, R. J., Jackson, E. M., Weaver, B. D.; Nonionizing energy loss (NIEL) for heavy ions. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 46 No. 6, 1595-1602 (1999)

MIC97 - MicroSim Corporation; MicroSim application notes. Application Notes Series of the MicroSim Corporation, 20 Fairbanks, Irvine, California 92618, USA, Version 8.0, 1-316 (1997)

MIL94 - Miller, L. A., Brice, D. K., Prinja, A. K., Picraux, S. T.; Displacement-threshold energies in Si calculated by molecular dynamics. Phys. Rev. B, 49 No.24, 16953-1696 (1994)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	48 (70)

MOH96 - Mohammadzadeh, A., Hopkins-Bond, I., Holmes-Siedle, A. and Watts, J. S.; The effects of radiation damage on the imaging performance of charge coupled devices. Paper presented at the Fifth World Conference on Neutron Radiography, Berlin, June 1996 (1996)

MOL99 - Moll, Michael; Radiation damage in silicon particle detectors - microscopic defects and macroscopic properties. Thesis Work, Fachbereich Physik der Universität Hamburg, 1999, 1-251 (1999)

NAR01 - Nartallo, R., Evans, H., Daly, E., Hilgers, A., Niemienen, P., Soerensen, J., Lei, F., Truscott, P., Giani, S., Apostolakis, J., Magni, S.; Radiation environment induced degradation on Chandra and implications for XMM. Esa/estec/tos-em/00-015/RN (2001)

NEI00 - Neifeld, M. A.; Modeling (and measuring) proton-irrdadiation effects in photonic devices. MURI 2000 (2000)

NIE01 - Nieminen, P.; The in-orbit radiation environment and its effect on spaceborne instrumentation. Proceedings of the Conference "The Calibration Legacy of the ISO Mission", VILSPA, Spain, Feb. 2001 (ESA SP-481)

NOO98 - Nooshabadi, S., Visweswaran, G. S. and Nagchoudhuri, D.; A MOS transistor thermal sub-circuit for the SPICE circuit simulator. Microelectronics Journal, 29, 229-234 (1998)

NOR85 - Norgett, M. J., Robinson, M. T. and Torrens, I. M.; A proposed method of calculating displacement dose rates. Nuclear Engineering and Design, 33, 50-54 (1985)

NOR96 - Normand, E.; Single-event effects in avionics. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 43, No. 2, 461-474 (1996)

NOR99 - Normand, E.; Extensions of the burst generation rate method for wider application to proton/neutron-induced single event effects. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 45, 2904-2912 (1998)

OHY00a - Ohyama, H., Yajima, K., Simoen, E., Katoh, T., Claeys, C., Takami, Y., Kobayashi, K., Yoneoka, M., Nakabayashi, M., Hakata, T. and Takizawa, H.; Impact of 20-MeV alpha ray irradiation on the V-band performance of AlGaAs pseudomorphic HEMTs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2546-2550 (2000)

OHY00b - Ohyama, H., Simoen, E., Claeys, C., Takami, Y., Sunaga, H., Yoneoka, M., Nakabayashi, M., Kobayashi, K. and Kudou, T.; Impact of neutron irradiation on optical performance of InGaAsP laser diodes. Thin Solid Films, 364, 259-263 (2000)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		49 (70)	

OHY97 - Ohyama, H., Vanhellemont, J., Takami, Y., Sunaga, H., Nashiyama, I., Uwatoko, Y., Poortmans, J. and Caymax, M.; Degradation of SiGe devices by proton irradiation. Radiat. Phys. Chem., 50, No. 4, 341-346 (1997)

OUG90 - Ougouag, A. M., Williams, J. G., Danjaji, M. B., Yang, S.-Y., Meason, J. L.; Differential displacement kerma cross sections for neutron interactions in Si and GaAs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 37 No. 6, 2219-2228 (1990)

PAR00 - Parker, S. I., Kenney, C. J.; Performance of 3-D architecture silicon sensors after intense proton irradiation. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 48, 5 (2001)

PAS00 - Passeri, D., Ciampolini, P., Bilei, G. M., Lemeilleur, F.; Analysis of the transient response of LED-illuminated diodes under heavy radiation damage. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 443 No.1, 148-155 (2000)

PEP90 - Pepper, G. T. and Stone, R. E.; Computer simulation of photocurrents in p-n junctions using RADSPICE. NASA Technical Report AD-A233427 DREO-1063, Document ID 19910015200 N (91N24513) (1990)

PET96 - Petersen, E. L.; Approaches to proton single-event rate calculations. IEEE Trans. on Nucl. Sci., 43, No. 2, 496-504 (1996)

PIC83 - Pickel, J. C.; Single event upset mechanisms and predictions. IEEE NSREC Short Course, Gatlinburg, IEEE, New York (1983)

PIC96 - Pickel, J. C.; Single-event effects rate prediction. IEEE Trans. on Nucl. Sci., 43, No. 2, 483-495 (1996)

POP96 - Popov, V. D.; A simple model for radiation response of complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor integrated circuits exposed to ionizing cosmic rays. Radiation Measurements, 26, No. 3, 497-501 (1996)

POU99 - Pouget, V., Lewis, D., Lapuyade, H., Briand, R., Fouillat, P., Sarger, L. and Calvet, M.-C.; Validation of radiation hardened designs by pulsed laser testing and SPICE analysis. Microelectronics Reliability, 39, 931-935 (1999)

RAY85 - Raymond, J. P.; Environments, failure mechanisms and simulation of radiation effects on microelectronic components. Short Course Notes, NSREC'85 Conference, Monterey, CA, IEEE, New York (1985)

RAY87 - Raymond, J. P. and Petersen, E. L.; Comparison of neutron, proton and gamma rays effects in semiconductor devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-34, 1622-1628 (1987)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		50 (70)	

REE00 - Reed, R. A., Marshall, P. W., Marshall, C. J., Ladbury, R. L., Kim, H. S., Barth, J. L., LaBel, K. A.; Energy dependence of proton damage in AlGaAs lightemitting diodes. Paper presented at the Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects Conference (NSREC) 2000 (2000)

REE01 - Reed, R. A., Poivey, C., Marshall, P. W., LaBel, K. A., Marshall, C. J.; Assessing the impact of the space radiation environment on parametric degradation and single event transients in optocouplers. Paper presented at the Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects Conference (NSREC) 2001 (2001)

REE02 - Reed, R., LaBel, K., Kim, H., Leidecker, H., Lohr, J.; Test report of proton and neutrons exposures of devices that utilize optical components and are contained in the CIRS instrument. http://radhome.gsfc.nasa.gov/radhome/papers/i090397.html (2002)

ROB00 - Robbins, M. S.; High-energy proton-induced dark signal in silicon charge couple devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2473-2479 (2000)

ROE00 - Roesler, S., Liu, J. C., Rokni, S. H.; Radiation damage to electronics installed in niches of the NLC beam tunnel. SLAC Radiation Physics Note RP-00-06 (2000)

ROE99 - Roesler, S., Liu, J. C., Rokni, S. H.; Dose to electronics in the NLC beam tunnel. SLAC Radiation Physics Note RP-99-15 (1999)

ROG96 - Rogalla, M., Eich, Th., Evans, N., Geppert, R., Göppert, R., Irsigler, R., Ludwig, J., Runge, K., Schmid, Th.; Radiation studies for GaAs in the ATLAS inner detector. submitted to Nucl. Instr. Meth. A (1996) (1996)

ROG97 - Rogalla, M., Battke, M., Duda, N., Geppert, R., Göppert, R., Ludwig, J., Schmid, Th., Irsigler, R. and Runge, K.; Radiation damage due to pions and protons in Si-GaAs and their influence on the detector performance. Proc. 5th Int. Workshop on GaAs Detectors and Realted Components, Udine, June 1997 (1997)

RUD76 - Rudie, N. J.; Principles and techniques of radiation hardening (Vols. 1 and 2), Western Periodicals Co., North Hollywood, CA. (1976)

RUS01 - Russo, P., Campajola, L., Carpentieri, C. and Bertolucci, E.; Response of semi-insulating GaAs detectors to low energy protons. Nucl. Instr. and Meth. in Phys. Res. A, 466, 155-161 (2001)

RUZ99 - Ruzin, A., Casse, G. L., Glaser, M., Zanet, A., Lemeilleur, F. and Watts, S.; Comparison of radiation damage in silicon induced by proton and neutron irradiation. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 46, No. 5, 1310-1313 (1999)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	51 (70)

SAH07.04.1999 - Sahu, K.; Programmable technologies web site: Hitachi EEPROMs. http://rk.gsfc.nasa.gov/richcontent/MemoryContent/HitachiEEProms.htm, download: 07.04.1999

SAI00a - Saigne, F., Dusseau, L., Fesquet, J., Gasiot, J., Ecoffet, R., Schrimpf, R. D. and Galloway, K. F.; Experimental procedure to predict the competition between the degradation induced by irradiation and thermal annealing of oxide trapped charge in MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2329-2333 (2000)

SAI00b - Saigne, F., Dusseau, L., Fesquet, J., Gasiot, J., Ecoffet, R., Schrimpf, R. D. and Galloway, K. F.; Prediction of the one year thermal annealing of irradiated commercial devices based on experimental isochronal curves. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2244-2248 (2000)

SEI00 - Seidel, S.; A review of design considerations for the sensor matrix in semiconductor pixel detectors for tracking in particle physics experiments. accepted for publication in Nucl. Instr. Phys. Res. A (2001)

SEI56 - Seitz, F., Koehler, J. S.; Displacement of atoms during irradiation. Solid State Physics, 2, 305-448 (1956)

SHA00 - Shatalov, A., Subramanian, S. and Dentai, A.; Neutron irradiation effects in InP/InGaAs single heterojunction bipolar transistors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2551-2556 (2000)

SHI90 - Shi, Y. et al.; A numerical study of cluster formation in neutron-irradiated silicon. J. Applied Physics, 67, 1116-1118 (1990)

SHO00 - Short, A. D.; Swift XRT: Proton environment and CCD degradation. X-Ray Astronomy Group, Decoment: XRT-LUX-RE-001/1 (2000)

SIA01 - Siad, M., Boussaa, N., Keffous, A., Rahab, H. and Menari, H.; Effects of 3 MeV proton irradiation on the electrical properties of silicon detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 463, 413-417 (2001)

SIM00 - Simoen, E. and Claeys, C.; The impact of high-energy proton irradiation on the low-frequency 1/f noise in FZ-silicon diodes. Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing, 3, 263-267 (2000)

SIM96 - Simoen, E., Vanhellemont, J., Claeys, C., Kaniava, A. and Glaubas, E.; The response of Si p-n junction diodes to proton irradiation. Semicond. Sci. Technol., 11, 1434-1442 (1996)

SIM98 - Simoen, E., Claeys, C. and Ohyama, H.; Factors determining the damage coefficients and the low-frequency noise in MeV proton-irradiated silicon diodes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-45, 89-97 (1998)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln A	bteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	52 (70)

SMI97 - Smith, K. M. for the GaAs Collaboration; Status report of the RD-8 collaboration. CERN/LHCC 97-37 (1997)

SON96 - Song, K. S.; Decay of the self-trapped exiton and large scale atomic motion in ionic halide crystals. Journal of Luminescence, 66-7, 389-395 (1996)

SPI91 - Spier, R. J. and Liffring, M. E.; A preliminary evaluation of the SPICE3 simulation package. Open Literature File Series, Document ID 19920067931 A (92A50555) (1991)

SPI96 - Spieler, H.; Introduction to radiation-resistant semiconductor devices and circuits. Tutorial by Helmuth Spieler (Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Physics Division) (1996)

SRO00 - Srour, J. R., Lo, D. H.; Universal damage factor for radiation-induced dark current in silicon devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2451-2459 (2000)

SRO86 - Srour, J. R., Hartman, J. A. and Kitazaki, K. S.; Permanent damage produced by single proton interaction in silicon devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-33, 1597-1604 (1986)

STA96 - Stassinopoulos, E. G., Bruckner, G. J. and Stauffer, C. A.; Analysis of space radiation data of semiconductor memories. Radiation Measurements, 26, No. 6, 987-994 (1996)

STE00 - Stefanov, K. D., Tsukamoto, T., Miyamoto, A., Sugimoto, Y., Tamura, N., Abe, K., Nagamine, T. and Aso, T.; Electron and neutron radiation damage effects on a two-phase CCD. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-47, 1280-1291 (2000)

SUM87 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A., Dale, C. J., Wolicki, E. A., Marshall, P. W. and Gehlhausen, M. A.; Correlation of particle-induced displacement damage in silicon. IEEE Trans. on Nucl. Sci., NS-37, No. 6, 1137-1139 (1987)

SUM88 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A., Xapsos, M. A., Dale, C. J., Marschall, P. W., Peterson, E. L.; Displacement damage in GaAs structures. IEEE Trans. On. Nucl. Sci., 35, No. 6, 1221-1226 (1988)

SUM93 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A., Shapiro, P., Messenger, S. R.; Damage correlations in semiconductors exposed to gamma, electron and proton radiations. IEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 40 No. 6, 1372-1379 (1993)

SUM95 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A. and Xapsos, M. A.; Displacement damage analogs to ionising radiation effects. Radiation Measurements, 24, No. 1, 1-8 (1995)

SUM97 - Summers, G. P., Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Xapsos, M. A., Walters, R. J.; Low energy proton-induced displacement damage in shielded GaAs solar cells in space. Appl. Phys. Letters 71, (7)., 71, 832-834 (1997)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	53 (70)

SZI-MDEPTH - Szilágyi, E.; Depth resolution calculation for targets containing multilayers. Software user instructions for MDEPTH

TOM97 - Tomida, H., Matsumoto, H., Ozaki, M., Tazawa, Y., Awaki, H., Tsuru, T., Koyama, K., Tsunemi, H., Yamamoto, K.; Radiation damage on X-ray CCDs and restoration technique for space astronomy. Publ. Soc. Japan, 49, 405-412 (1997)

TRU00 - Truscott, P., Lei, F., Ferguson, C., Gurriaran, R., Nieminen, P., Daly, E., Apostolakis, J., Giani, S., Pia, M. G., Urban, L. and Maire, M.; Development of a spacecraft radiation shielding and effects toolkit based on Geant4. Computer in High Energy Physics (CHEP) 2000, Feb. 2000,

http://www.space.dera.gov.uk/space\_env/geant\_dv.html (2000)

VAN89 - Van Ginneken, A.; Non ionizing energy deposition in silicon for radiation damage studies. Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, Special Publication FN-522, October 1989, 1-8 (1989)

VAS00 - Vasilescu, A., Lindström, G.; Displacement damage in silicon, on-line compilation. http://sesame.desy.de/~gunnar/Si-dfuncs.html (2000)

VAS00a - Vasilescu, A., Lindström, G.; Notes on the fluence normalisation based on the NIEL scaling hypothesis. ROSE/TN/2000-02 (2000)

VAS01 - Vasilescu, Angela; Abstract: Fluence normalisation based on the NIEL scaling hypothesis. http://sesam.desy.de/rose98/abstracts/vasilescu.html, download 26.03.2001

VAS97 - Vasilescu, A.; The NIEL scaling hypothesis applied to neutron spectra of irradiation facilities and in the ATLAS and CMS SCT and the irradiation facilities used for damage tests. ROSE/TN/97-2, Institute of Nuclear Physics and Engineering, Bucharest, Romania (1997)

VAS97a - Vasilescu, A.; Detectors for the study of proton-proton interaction at very high energies. ROSE/TN/97-1 (1997)

WAL91 - Walters, R. J., Messenger, S. R., Summers, G. P., Wolicki, E. A., Burke, E. A.; Space radiation effects in InP solar cells. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1153-1158 (1991)

WAL96 - Walker, S. R., Johnston, P. N., Bubb, I. F., Stannard, W. B., Jamieson, D. N., Dooly, S. P., Cohen, D. D., Dytlewski, N., Martin, J. W.; Damage in semiconductor material during heavy-ion elastic recoil detection analysis. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. B, 113, 312-316 (1996)

WAL97 - Walters, R. J., Messenger, S. R., Cotal, H. L., Xapsos, M. A., Wojtczuk, S. J., Serreze, H. B., Summers, G. P.; Radiation response of heteroepitaxial InP/Si solar cells. J. Appl. Phys., 85 No. 5, 2164-2175 (1997)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	54 (70)

WAT96 - Watts, S. J., Matheson, J., Hopkins-Bond, I. H., Holmes-Siedle, A., Mohammadzadeh, A. and Pace, R.; A new model for generation-recombination in silicon depletion regions after neutron irradiation. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-43, 2587-2594 (1996)

WAT97 - Watts, S. J.; Overview of radiation damage in silicon detectors - Models and defect engineering. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 386, 149-155 (1997)

WEL99 - Wellisch, J. P.; On hadronic shower simulation. Paper submitted to World Scientific on Sep. 1999 (1999)

Wil00 - Wilson, J. W., Cucinotta, F. A., Tripathi, R. K., Clowdsley, M. S., Shinn, J. L., Singleterry, R. C., Thibeault, S. A., Kim, M.-H. Y., Heinbockel, J. H., Badhwar, G. D., Miller, J., Zeitlin, C. J. and Heilbronn, L. H.; Improved spacecraft materials for radiation protection. - Shield materials optimization and testing. Microgravity Materials Conf., Huntsville, Alabama, June 6-7, 2000

WIN80 - Winsberg, L.; Systematics of particle-nucleus reactions, I. Parameters. Phys. Rev. C, 22 No. 5, 2116-2122 (1980)

WIT00 - Witczak, S. C., Lacoe, R. C., Shaneyfelt, M. R., Mayer, D. C., Schwank, J. R. and Winokur, P. S.; Implications of radiation-induced dopant deactivation for npn bipolar junction transistors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2281-2288 (2000)

WOO81 - Woods, S., Doyle, N. J., Spitznagel, J. A., Choyke, W. J., More, R. M., McGruer, J. N., Irwin, R. B.; Simulation of radiation damage in silicon. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 28, 4107-4112 (1981)

WUN92 - Wunstorf, R., Benkert, M., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G., Schulz, T., Darvas, R., Croitoru, N. et al.; Radiation damage of silicon detectors by monoenergetic neutrons between 1 and 14 MeV and 1.8 MeV electrons. Nucl. Phys. B (Proc. Suppl.), 23A, 324-332 (1992)

WYS00 - Wyss, J., Bisello, D., Candelori, A., Kaminsky, A., Pantano, D.; Observation of an energy dependance of the radiation damage on standard and oxygenated silicon diodes by 16, 21, and 27 MeV protons. ROSE/TN/2000-07 (accepted for publication in NIMA) (2000)

XAP00 - Xapsos, M. A., Barth, J. L., Stassinopoulos, E. G., Messenger, S. R., Walters, R. J., Summers, G. P. and Burke, E. A.; Characterizing solar proton energy spectra for radiation effects applications. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2218-2223 (2000)

ZHA00 - Zhang, S., Niu, G., Cressler, J. D., Mathew, S. J., Gogineni, U., Zampardi, P., Clark, S. D. and Pierson, R. L.; A comparison of the effects of gamma irradiation on SiGe HBT and GaAs HBT technologies. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2521-2527 (2000)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	55 (70)

ZHU98 - Zhu, Ren-yuan; Radiation damage in scintillating crystals. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 413, 297-311 (1998)

ZIE79 - Ziegler, J. F., Lanford, W. A.; Effect of cosmic rays on computer memories. Science, 206, 776-788 (1979)

ZIE85 - Ziegler, J. F., Biersack, J. P., Littmark, U.; The stopping and range of ions in solids. Pergamon Press New York, Oxford, Toronto, Sydney, Frankfurt, Tokyo, 1 (1985)

ZIE96 - Ziegler, J. B.; SRIM- The stopping and range of ions in matter. Instruction Manual; http://www.research.ibm.com/ionsbeams/SRIM/SRIMA.HTM (1996)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	56 (70)

## Appendix II: References Related to Theory and Algorithms

AKK01 - Akkermann, A., Barak, J., Chadwick, M. B., Levison, J., Murat, M. Lifshitz, Y.; Updated NIEL calculation for estimating the damage induced by particles and gamma-rays in Si and GaAS. Rad. Phys. Chem., 62 Issue 4, 301-310 (2001)

ALU91 - Alurralde, M., Victoria, M., Caro, A., Gavillet, D.; Nuclear and damage effects in Si produced by irradiations with medium energy protons. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1210-1215 (1991)

AMB02 - Ambrosi, R. M., Short, A. D. T., Abbey, A. F., Wells, A. A., Smith, D. R.; The effect of proton damage on the X-Ray spectral response of MOS CCDs for the Swift X-Ray Telescope. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 482, 644-652 (2002)

ANG95 - Angelescu, T., Cheremukhin, A., E., Ghete, V. M., Ghiordanescu, N., Golutvin, I. A., Lazanu, S., Lazanu, I., Mihul, A., Radu, A., Susova, N. Yu., Vasilescu, A. and Zamyatin, N. I.; Radiation hardness studies on silicon detectors in fast neutron fields. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 357, 55-63 (1995)

ANG98 - Angarano, M. M., Bder, A., de Palma, M. and Raso, G.; Measured characteristics and SPICE simulation of an n+ on n type Si strip detector before and after neutron irradiation. 3rd ROSE Workshop on Radiation Hardening of Silicon Detectors, DESY Hamburg, 12-14 Feb., 1998

ANG99 - Angarano, M. M., Bder, A., de Palma, M., Raso, G.; Characteristics and SPICE simulation of an n+ on n type Si strip detector before and after neutron irradiation. submitted to NIM A (1999)

ARU98 - Aruga, T.; Nuclear data for analysis of radiation damage processes. http://wwwndc.tokai.jaeri.go.jp/nds/proceedings/1998/aruga\_t.pdf (1998)

AVE98 - Averback, R. S. and Diaz de la Rubia, T.; Displacement damage in irradiated metals and semiconductors. Solid State Physics, 51, 291-402 (1998)

BAI01 - Bailey, S. G., Long, K. J., Curtis, H. B., Gardner, B., Davis, V., Messenger, S. and Walters, R.; Solar array verification analysis tool (SAVANT) developed. http://www.lerc.nasa.gov/WWW/RT1998/5000/5410bailey.html, download 29.05.2001

BAR00 - Barde, S., Ecoffet, R., Costeraste, J., Meygret, A., Hugon, X.; Displacement damage effects in InGaAs detectors: Experimental results and semi-empirical model prediction. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci, 47 No. 6, 2466-2472 (2000)

BAR91 - Barry, A., Lehmann, B., Fritsch, D., Bräunig, D.; Energy dependence of electron damage and displacement threshold energy in 6C silicon carbide. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1111-1115 (1991)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report	Page:	57 (70)	

BAR95 - Barry, A. L., Houdayer, A. J., Hinrichsen, P. F., Letourneau, W. G., Vincent, J.; The energy dependence of lifetime damage constants in GaAs LEDs for 1 - 500 MeV protons. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 42 No. 6, 2104-2107 (1995)

BAR96 - Barnaby, H., Tausch, H. J., Turfler, R., Cole, P., Baker, P. and Pease, R. L.; Analysis of bipolar linear circuit response mechanisms for high and low dose rate total dose irradiations. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 43 No. 6 Part 1, 3040-3048 (1996)

BAT95 - Bates, S. J., Furetta, C., Glaser, M., Lemeilleur, F., León-Florián, E., Gößling, C., Kaiser, B., Rolf, A., Wunstorf, R., Feick, H., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G., Moll, M., Taylor, G., Chilingarov, A.; Pion-induced damage in silicon detectors. CERN Special Publication ECP/95-26, 7 November 1995 (1995)

BAT97 - Bates, R. L., Campbell, M., D'Auria, S., Da Vià, C., O'Shea, V., Raine, C. and Smith, K. M.; Recent results on GaAs detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 392, 269-273 (1997)

BAT97a - Bates, R., Da Via, C., O'Shea, V., Pickfd, A., Raine, C., Smith, K.; Radiation induced damage in GaAs paticle detectors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 44, 1705-1707 (1997)

BAU62 - Bauerlein, R.; Displacement thresholds in semiconductors. in Radiation Damage in Solids, Ed. By D. S. Billington, Van Nordstrand, New York (1962)

BEA99 - Beattie, L., Brodbeck, T. J., Chilingarov, A., Hughes, G., McGarry, S., Ratoff, P. and Sloan, T.; Carrier lifetimes in heavily irradiated silicon diodes. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 421, 502-511 (1999)

BIS00a - Bisello, D., Wyss, J., Candelori, A., Kaminsky, A., Pantano, D.; Radiation damage of standard and oxygenated silicon diodes by 16 and 27 MeV protons. Presented at the Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference in Lion (October 15-20, 2000) (2000)

BLA01 - Blachetta, N.; Silicon detectors: Radiation issues. NN (2000)

BOU02 - Bourgoin, J. C., Zazaoui, M.; Irradiation-induced degradation in solar cell: Characterization of recombination centres. Semicond. Sci. Technol., 17, 453-460 (2002)

BRA94 - Bräunig, H., Wulf, F.; Atomic displacement and total ionizing dose damge in semiconductors. Radiat. Phys. Chem., 43 No.1/2, 105-127 (1994)

BRU67 - Brucker, G. J.; Correlation of radiation damage in silicon transistors bombarded by electrons, protons and neutrons. Proc. of the Symposium on Radiation Effects in Semiconductor Components, Toulouse 1967

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1	Study Report	Page:	58 (70)

BRU90 - Brumbi, Detlef; Bauelemente-Degradation durch radioaktive Strahlung und deren Konsequenzen für den Entwurf strahlenresistenter elektronischer Schaltungen. Thesis Work, Bochum, 1990; Schriftenreihe des Instituts für Elektronik, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Heft No. 901/5, 1-129 (1990)

BUE68 - Buehler, M. G.; Design curves for predicting fast neutron induced resistivity changes in silicon. Proc. IEEE, October 1968, 1741 ff. (1968)

BUE85 - Buehler, M. G., Moore, B. T. and Nixon, R. H.; Parameter extraction from spaceborne MOSFETS. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-32, 4237-4243 (1985)

BUI95 - Buisson, J., Gaillard, R., Jaureguy, J.-C., Poirault, G.; Effets de deplacement indiuts par les protons de grande energie dans les dispositifs electroniques semiconducteures. Proc. RADECS 95, 19-24 (1995)

BUR86 - Burke, E. A.; Energy dependence of proton-induced displacement damage in silicon. IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, NS-33, 1276-1281 (1986)

CES00 - Ceschia, M., Paccagnella, A., Turrini, M., Candelori, A., Ghidini, G. and Wyss, J.; Heavy ion irradiation of thin gate oxides. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2648-2655 (2000)

CHE - Chen, Y., Obradovic, B., Morris, M., Wang, G., Balamurugan, G., Li, D., Tasch, A. F., Kamenitsa, D., McCoy, W., Baumann, S., Bleier, R., Sieloff, D., Dyer, D., Zeitzoff, P.; Monte Carlo simulation of heavy species (indium and germanium) ion implantation into silicon.

CHI00 - Chilingarov, A., Lipka, D., Meyer, J. S., Sloan, T.; Displacement energy for various ions in particle detector materials. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 449, 277-287 (2000)

CHI97 - Chilingarov, A., Meyer, J. S., Sloan, T.; Radiation damage due to NIEL in GaAS particle detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 395, 35-44 (1997)

CHI97a - Chilingarov, A. and Sloan, T.; Operation of heavily irradiated silicon detectors under forward bias. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 399, 35-37 (1997)

CHI97b - Chilingarov, A. and Sloan, T.; Radiation damage of Pi-Ny GaAs structures. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 388, 395-398 (1997)

CIN00 - Cindro, V., Kramberger, G., Mikuz, M., Tadel, M. and Zontar, D.; Biasdependent radiation damage in high resistivity silicon diodes irradiated with heavy charged particles. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 450, 288-296 (2000)

CON71 - Conrad, E. E.; Considerations in establishing a standard for neutron displacement energy effects in semiconductors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-18, 200-206 (1971)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	59 (70)

CUR66 - Curtis, O.; Effects of oxygen and dopant on lifetime and carrier concentration in neutron-irradiated silicon. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-13, 33-40 (1966)

CUR98 - Curtis, S. B., Vazquez, M. E., Wilson, J. W., Atwell, W., Kim, M and Capala, J.; Cosmic ray hit frequencies in critical sites in the central nervous system. Adv. Space Res., 22, No. 2, 197-207 (1998)

DAB95 - Dabrowski, W.; Radiation damage in Si detectors and front-end electronics. Nuclear Physics B (Proc. Suppl.), 44, 463-467 (1995)

DAL88 - Dale, C. J., Marshall, P. W., Burke, E. A., Summers, G. P. and Wolicki, E. A.; High energy electron induced displacement damage in silicon. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-35, 1208-1214 (1988)

DAL89 - Dale, C.J., Marshall, P. W., Burke, E. A., Summers, G. P., Bender, G. E.; The generation lifetime damage factor and its variance in Si. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 36 No. 6, 1872-1881 (1989)

DAL91 - Dale, C. J. and Marshall, P. W.; Displacement damage in Si imagers for space applications. SPIE Proceedings, 1447, 70-87 (1991)

DAL93 - Dale, C., Marshall, P., Cummings, B., Shamey, L. and Holland, A.; Displacement damage effects in mixed particle environments for shielded spacecraft CCDs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 40, No. 6, 1628-1637 (1993)

DAL94 - Dale, C. J., McNulty, P. J., Marschall, P. W., Burke, E. A.; A comparison of Monte Carlo and analytic treatments of displacement damage in Si microvolumes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 41 No. 6, 1974-1983 (1994)

DAV87 - Davies, G., Lightowlers, E. C., Newman, R. C. and Oates, A. S.; A model for radiation damage effects in carbon doped crystalline silicon. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 2, 524 (1987)

DEL97 - Della Marina, R., Passeri, D., Ciampolini, P. and Bilei, G. M.; Silicon strip detectors for LHC: Comprehensive process and device analysis. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 392, 178-182 (1997)

DEN00 - Dentan, M.; Radiation effects on electronic components and circuits. CERN Training, April 10-12, 2000 (2000)

DEN01 - Dennerl, K., Briel, G., Freyberg, M. J., Haberl, F., Meidinger, N., Zavlin, V. E.; CTI history of the EPIC pn camera. Proceedings of the Symposium on "New Visions of the X-ray Univers in the XMM-Newton and Chandra Era", 26-30 November 2001, ESTEC, The Netherlands (2001)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report	Page:	60 (70)	

DEZ97 - Dezillie, B., Lemeilleur, F., Glaser, M., Casse, G.-L. and Leroy, C.; Experimental results on radiation induced bulk damage effects in float-zone and epitaxial silicon detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 386, 162-166 (1997)

FAC - Faccio, F.; Cots for the LHC radiation environment : The rules of the game. CERN

FEI00 - Feick, H.; Fast proton damage in bulk silicon. MURI Annual Review, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, October 10-11, 2000 (2000)

FEI01 - Feick, H., Weber, E. R.; Radiation-induced defects in oxygen-enriched silicon detector materials. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 473, 114-118 (2001)

FEI96 - Feick, H., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G. and Moll, M.; Long term damage studies using silicon detectors fabricated from different starting materials and irradiated with neutrons, protons, and pions. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 377, 217-223 (1996)

FEI97 - Feick, H.; Radiation tolerance of silicon particle detectors for high-energy physics experiments. Thesis Work, Hamburg, 1997; Fachbereich Physik, Universität Hamburg (1997)

FER00 - Ferlet-Cavrois, V., Colladant, T., Paillet, P., Leray, J. L., Musseau, O., Schwank, J. R., Shaneyfelt, M. R., Pelloie, J. L. and du Port de Poncharra, J.; Worstcase bias during total dose irradiation of SOI transistors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47, No. 6, 2183-2188 (2000)

GEO98 - Georgii, R., Meißl, R., Hajdas, W., Henschel, H., Gräf, H.-D., Lichti, G. G., von Neumann-Cosel, P., Richter, A. and Schönfelder, V.; Influence of radiation damage on BGO scintillation properties. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 413, 50-58 (1998)

GIL97 - Gill, K., Hall, G., MacEvoy, B.; Bulk damage effects in irradiated silicon detektots due to clustered divacancies. J. Appl. Phys., 82, 126-136 (1997)

GIL98 - Gill, K., Arbet-Engels, V., Cervelli, G., Grabit, R., Mommaert, C., Stefanini, G., Vasey, F., Troska, J.; Pion radiation damage in InGaAs p-i-n photodiodes. CMS Note 1998/047 (1998)

GIN89 - Van Ginneken, A.; Non-ionizing energy deposition in silicon for radiation damage studies. Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, Report FN-522 (1989)

GRA98 - Graves, R. J., Cirba, C. R., Schrimpf, R. D., Milanowski, R. J., Michez, A., Fleetwood, D. M, Witczak, S. C. and Saigne, F.; Modelling low dose rate effects in irradiated bipolar oxides. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-45, 2352-2365 (1998)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteil	ung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study	Report	Page:	61 (70)

GRI91 - Griffin, P. J., Kelly, J. G., Luerra, T. F., Barry, A. L., Lazo, M. S.; Neutron damage equivalence in GaAs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38 No. 6, 1216-1224 (1991)

GRI93 - Griscom, D. L., Gingerich, M. E. and Fiebele, E. J.; Model for the dose, dose-rate and temperature dependence of radiation-induced loss in optical fibers. Proc. RADECS'93, St. Malo, September 1993, France, IEEE Catalog No. 93-TH-0616-3, 257-261 (1993)

HAS88 - Hashimoto, T., Rehn, L. E., Okamoto, P. R.; Freely migrating-defect production during irradiation at elevated temperatures. Phys. Rev. B, 38 No. 18, 12868-1287 (1988)

HAZ00 - Hazucha, P. and Svensson, C.; Impact of CMOS technology scaling on the atmospheric neutron soft error rate. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2586-2594 (2000)

HIS98 - Hisamatsu, T., Kawasaki, O., Matsuda, S. and Tsukamoto, K.; Photoluminescence study of silicon solar cells irradiated with large fluence electrons or protons. Radiation Physics and Chemistry, 53, 25-30 (1998)

HOL91 - Holland, A., Holmes-Siedle, A., Johlander, B., Adams, L.; Techniques for minimizing space proton damage in scientific charge coupled devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38 No. 6, 1663-1670 (1991)

HOP00a - Hopkinson, G. R.; Proton-induced changes in CTE for N-channel CCDs and the effect on star tracker performance. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2460-2465 (2000)

HOP96 - Hopkinson, G. R., Dale, C. J., Marshall, P. W.; Proton effects in chargecoupled devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 43 No. 2, 614-627 (1996)

HUH01 - Huhtinen, M.; Simulation of non-ionising energy loss and defect formation in silicon. ROSE/TN/2001-02 (2001)

HUH01a - Huhtinen, M.; Simulation of defect formation in different hadron radiation environments. Presented at Si-RadHard Workshop, CERN, 29. November 2001 (2001)

HUH93 - Huhtinen, M., Aarnio, P. A.; Pion induced displacement damge in silicon devices. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 335, 580-582 (1993)

HUH99 - Huhtinen, M.; Displacement damage - What it is. CMS COTS Workshop, 16.-17. November 1999 (1999)

INT1998.03.30 - Internet; HZETRN - A free space radiation transport and shielding program. http://www.cosmic.uga.edu/abstracts/lar-15225.html, download: 30.03.1998

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package	1 Study Report	Page:	62 (70)

INT1998.11.03 - Internet; IPS radio & space services. http://www.ips.gov.au/papers/richard/ , download: 11.03.1998

INT1999.01.05 - Internet; Ray-tracing Monte Carlo simulations of the ISOCAM LW CCD. http://www.estec.esa.nl/wmwww/wma/ISO/Raytracing.html, download: 05.01.1999

INT1999.01.25a - Internet; NIEL scaling. http://www.cern.ch/RD11/rkb/PH14pp/node124.html, dowload 25.01.1999

INT1999.01.25b - Internet; Radiation measures and units. http://www.cern.ch/RD11/rkb/PH14pp/node154.html, dowload 25.01.1999

INT2000.05.19 - Internet; Devices tested for displacement damage. http://flick.gsfc.nasa.gov/radhome/displace.htm, download 19.05.2000

INT2000.05.20 - Internet; Compute 1-MeV electron equivalents for Si and GaAs solar cells following methods prescribed in the JPL Green and Blue Books. http://www.spacerad.com/m206.html, download: 20.05.2000

INT2000.05.22a - Internet; ATLAS at Lancaster - Radiation studies. http://www.lancs.ac.uk/users/spc/research/particle/atlas3.htm, download: 22.05.2000

INT2000.05.22b - Internet; Radiation hardness. http://ppewww.ph.gla.ac.uk/preprints/97/05/psd1/node6.html, download: 22.05.2000

INT2002 - Internet; . http://www.atlas.uni-wuppertal.de/optolink/fluences.html (2002)

JOH00 - Johnston, A. H.; Radiation damage of electronic and optoelectronic devices in space. Presented on the 4th International Workshop on Radiation Effects on Semiconductor Devices for Space Application, Tsukuba, Japan, October 11-13, 2000 (2000)

JUN01 - Jun, I.; Effects of secondary particles on the total dose and displacement damage in space proton environments. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 48, 162-175 (2001)

KHA99 - Khamidullina, N. M., Kuznetsov, N. V., Pichkhadze, K. M. and Popov, V. D.; Predictions of integrated circuit serviceability in space radiation fields. Radiation Measurements, 30, 633-638 (1999)

KIN55 - Kinchin, G. H. and Pease, R. S.; The displacement of atoms in solids by radiation. Reports on Progress in Physics, 18, 1-51 (1955)

KIN55 - Kinchin, G. H., Pease, R. S.; The displacement of atoms in solids by irradiation. Reports on Progress in Physics, 18, 1-51 (1955)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		57/01/NL/PA
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		63 (70)

KUH00 - Kuhnke, M., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G.; Microscopic studies on various silicon materials irradiated with different high energetic particles. Proceeding manuscript submitted to the second ENDEASD workshop, Kista/Stockholm, June, 2000 (ROSE/TN/2000-04) (2000)

KUH01 - Kuhnke, M., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G.; Defect generation in crystalline silicon irradiated with high energy particles. ROSE/TN/2001-01; submitted to Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A (2001)

LAZ97a - Lazanu, I., Lazanu, S., Biggeri, U., Borchi, E. and Bruzzi, M.; Non-ionising energy loss of pions in thin silicon samples. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 388, 370-374 (1997)

LAZ97b - Lazanu, I., Lazanu, S., Biggeri, U., Borchi, E. and Bruzzi, M.; Model predictions for the NIEL of high energy pions in Si and GaAs. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 394, 232-234 (1997)

LAZ98 - Lazanu, S. and Lazanu, I.; Si, GaAs and diamond damage in pion fields with application to LHC. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 419, 570-576 (1998)

LAZ99 - Lazanu, S., Lazanu, I.; Analytical approximations for the Lindhard equations describing radiation effects. Preprint submitted to Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A (1999)

LEG99 - Legrain, R., Lelièvre, F., Vuillier, S.; Estimates of the radiation damage induced by a proton beam in the window of an accelerometr driven system. www.fjfi.cvut.cz/con\_adtt99/papers/P-C22.pdf (1999)

LEN99 - Lenahan, P. M., Mele, J. J., Conley, Jr., J. E., Lowry, R. K. and Woodbury, D.; Predicting radiation response from process parameters: Verification of a physically based predictive model. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-46, 1534-1543 (1999)

LIN01 - Lindström, G. et al.; Developments for radiation hard silicon detectors by defect engineering - Results by the CERN RD48 (ROSE) collaboration. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 465, 60-69 (2001)

LIN72 - Van Lint, V. A. J., Leadon, R. E. and Colwell, J. F.; Energy dependence of displacement effects in semiconductors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 19 No. 6, 181-185 (1972)

LIN87 - Van Lint, V. A. J.; The physics of radiation damage in particle detectors. Nuc. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 253, 453-459 (1987)

LIN99 - Lindström, G., Moll, M., Fretwurst, E.; Radiation hardness of silicon detectors - a challenge from high-energy physics. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 426, 1-15 (1999)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report	Page:	64 (70)	

LOQ00 - Loquet, J.-G., David, J.-P., Briand, R. and Fouillat, P.; Calculation of heavy ion induced leakage current in n-MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2656-2661 (2000)

LUE87 - Luera, T. F., Kelly, J. G., Stein, H. J., Lazo, M. S., Lee, C. E., Dawson, L. R.; Neutron damage equivalence for silicon, silicon dioxide, and GaAs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-34, 1557-1563 (1987)

MAR00 - Marka, Z., Singh, S. K., Wang, W., Lee, S. C., Kavich, J., Glebov, B., Rashkeev, S. N., Karmarkar, A. P., Albridge, R. G., Pantelides, S. T., Schrimpf, R. D., Fleetwood, D. M. and Tolk, N. H.; Characterization of X-ray radiation damage in Si/SiO2 structures using second-harmonic generation. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2256-2261 (2000)

MAR89 - Marshall, P. W., Dale, C. J., Campbell, A. B., Summers, G. P., Palmer, T., Zuleeg, R.; Proton, neutron and electron induced displacement damage in germanium. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 36, 1882-1888 (1989)

MAR90 - Marshall, P. W., Dale, C. J., Summers, G. P. and Bender, G. E.; Proton induced displacement damage distributions and extremes in silicon micro-volumes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-37, 1776-1783 (1990)

MAR99 - Marshall, C. J., Marshall, P. W.; Proton effects and test issues for satellite designers; Part B: Displacement damage effects. NSREC Short Course 1999, Norfolk, Virginia (1999)

MAT96 - Matheson, J., Robbins, M., Watts, S.; The effect of radiation induced defects on the performance of high resistivity silicon diodes. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 377, 224-227 (1996)

MCP97 - McPherson, M., Jones, B. K. and Sloan, T.; Effects of radiation damage in silicon p-i-n photodiodes. Semicond. Sci. Technol., 12, 1187-1194 (1997)

MEI00 - Meidinger, N., Schmalhofer, B., Strüder, L.; Particle and X-ray damage in pn-CCDs. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 439, 319-336 (2000)

MES01 - Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Walters, R. J., Summers, G. P. and Xapsos, M. A.; NIEL and damage correlations for high energy protons in gallium arsenide devices. Presented at the 38th IEEE Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects Conference, Vancouver, BC., July 16-20 (2001)

MES97 - Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Walters, R. J., Summers, G. P.; Proton displacement damage and ionizing dose for shielded devices in space. IEEE Trans. on Nucl. Sci. 44 2169-2173 (1997)., 44, 2169-2173 (1997)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		65 (70)	

MES99 - Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Summers, G. P., Xapsos, M. A., Walters, R. J., Jackson, E. M., Weaver, B. D.; Nonionizing energy loss (NIEL) for heavy ions. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 46 No. 6, 1595-1602 (1999)

MIC97 - MicroSim Corporation; MicroSim application notes. Application Notes Series of the MicroSim Corporation, 20 Fairbanks, Irvine, California 92618, USA, Version 8.0, 1-316 (1997)

MIL94 - Miller, L. A., Brice, D. K., Prinja, A. K., Picraux, S. T.; Displacement-threshold energies in Si calculated by molecular dynamics. Phys. Rev. B, 49 No.24, 16953-1696 (1994)

MOH96 - Mohammadzadeh, A., Hopkins-Bond, I., Holmes-Siedle, A. and Watts, J. S.; The effects of radiation damage on the imaging performance of charge coupled devices. Paper presented at the Fifth World Conference on Neutron Radiography, Berlin, June 1996 (1996)

MOL99 - Moll, Michael; Radiation damage in silicon particle detectors - microscopic defects and macroscopic properties. Thesis Work, Fachbereich Physik der Universität Hamburg, 1999, 1-251 (1999)

NAR01 - Nartallo, R., Evans, H., Daly, E., Hilgers, A., Niemienen, P., Soerensen, J., Lei, F., Truscott, P., Giani, S., Apostolakis, J., Magni, S.; Radiation environment induced degradation on Chandra and implications for XMM. Esa/estec/tos-em/00-015/RN (2001)

NEI00 - Neifeld, M. A.; Modeling (and measuring) proton-irrdadiation effects in photonic devices. MURI 2000 (2000)

NOR85 - Norgett, M. J., Robinson, M. T. and Torrens, I. M.; A proposed method of calculating displacement dose rates. Nuclear Engineering and Design, 33, 50-54 (1985)

OHY00a - Ohyama, H., Yajima, K., Simoen, E., Katoh, T., Claeys, C., Takami, Y., Kobayashi, K., Yoneoka, M., Nakabayashi, M., Hakata, T. and Takizawa, H.; Impact of 20-MeV alpha ray irradiation on the V-band performance of AlGaAs pseudomorphic HEMTs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2546-2550 (2000)

OHY00b - Ohyama, H., Simoen, E., Claeys, C., Takami, Y., Sunaga, H., Yoneoka, M., Nakabayashi, M., Kobayashi, K. and Kudou, T.; Impact of neutron irradiation on optical performance of InGaAsP laser diodes. Thin Solid Films, 364, 259-263 (2000)

OHY97 - Ohyama, H., Vanhellemont, J., Takami, Y., Sunaga, H., Nashiyama, I., Uwatoko, Y., Poortmans, J. and Caymax, M.; Degradation of SiGe devices by proton irradiation. Radiat. Phys. Chem., 50, No. 4, 341-346 (1997)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		e: 1.0	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date	31.05.2002	
Work Package 1 Study Report		: 66 (70)	

OUG90 - Ougouag, A. M., Williams, J. G., Danjaji, M. B., Yang, S.-Y., Meason, J. L.; Differential displacement kerma cross sections for neutron interactions in Si and GaAs. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 37 No. 6, 2219-2228 (1990)

PAR00 - Parker, S. I., Kenney, C. J.; Performance of 3-D architecture silicon sensors after intense proton irradiation. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 48, 5 (2001)

PAS00 - Passeri, D., Ciampolini, P., Bilei, G. M., Lemeilleur, F.; Analysis of the transient response of LED-illuminated diodes under heavy radiation damage. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 443 No.1, 148-155 (2000)

POP96 - Popov, V. D.; A simple model for radiation response of complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor integrated circuits exposed to ionizing cosmic rays. Radiation Measurements, 26, No. 3, 497-501 (1996)

POU99 - Pouget, V., Lewis, D., Lapuyade, H., Briand, R., Fouillat, P., Sarger, L. and Calvet, M.-C.; Validation of radiation hardened designs by pulsed laser testing and SPICE analysis. Microelectronics Reliability, 39, 931-935 (1999)

RAY85 - Raymond, J. P.; Environments, failure mechanisms and simulation of radiation effects on microelectronic components. Short Course Notes, NSREC'85 Conference, Monterey, CA, IEEE, New York (1985)

REE00 - Reed, R. A., Marshall, P. W., Marshall, C. J., Ladbury, R. L., Kim, H. S., Barth, J. L., LaBel, K. A.; Energy dependence of proton damage in AlGaAs lightemitting diodes. Paper presented at the Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects Conference (NSREC) 2000 (2000)

REE01 - Reed, R. A., Poivey, C., Marshall, P. W., LaBel, K. A., Marshall, C. J.; Assessing the impact of the space radiation environment on parametric degradation and single event transients in optocouplers. Paper presented at the Nuclear and Space Radiation Effects Conference (NSREC) 2001 (2001)

REE02 - Reed, R., LaBel, K., Kim, H., Leidecker, H., Lohr, J.; Test report of proton and neutrons exposures of devices that utilize optical components and are contained in the CIRS instrument. http://radhome.gsfc.nasa.gov/radhome/papers/i090397.html (2002)

ROB00 - Robbins, M. S.; High-energy proton-induced dark signal in silicon charge couple devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2473-2479 (2000)

ROE00 - Roesler, S., Liu, J. C., Rokni, S. H.; Radiation damage to electronics installed in niches of the NLC beam tunnel. SLAC Radiation Physics Note RP-00-06 (2000)

ROE99 - Roesler, S., Liu, J. C., Rokni, S. H.; Dose to electronics in the NLC beam tunnel. SLAC Radiation Physics Note RP-99-15 (1999)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	67 (70)

ROG96 - Rogalla, M., Eich, Th., Evans, N., Geppert, R., Göppert, R., Irsigler, R., Ludwig, J., Runge, K., Schmid, Th.; Radiation studies for GaAs in the ATLAS inner detector. submitted to Nucl. Instr. Meth. A (1996) (1996)

ROG97 - Rogalla, M., Battke, M., Duda, N., Geppert, R., Göppert, R., Ludwig, J., Schmid, Th., Irsigler, R. and Runge, K.; Radiation damage due to pions and protons in Si-GaAs and their influence on the detector performance. Proc. 5th Int. Workshop on GaAs Detectors and Realted Components, Udine, June 1997 (1997)

RUD76 - Rudie, N. J.; Principles and techniques of radiation hardening (Vols. 1 and 2), Western Periodicals Co., North Hollywood, CA. (1976)

RUS01 - Russo, P., Campajola, L., Carpentieri, C. and Bertolucci, E.; Response of semi-insulating GaAs detectors to low energy protons. Nucl. Instr. and Meth. in Phys. Res. A, 466, 155-161 (2001)

RUZ99 - Ruzin, A., Casse, G. L., Glaser, M., Zanet, A., Lemeilleur, F. and Watts, S.; Comparison of radiation damage in silicon induced by proton and neutron irradiation. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 46, No. 5, 1310-1313 (1999)

SAH07.04.1999 - Sahu, K.; Programmable technologies web site: Hitachi EEPROMs. http://rk.gsfc.nasa.gov/richcontent/MemoryContent/HitachiEEProms.htm, download: 07.04.1999

SEI00 - Seidel, S.; A review of design considerations for the sensor matrix in semiconductor pixel detectors for tracking in particle physics experiments. accepted for publication in Nucl. Instr. Phys. Res. A (2001)

SEI56 - Seitz, F., Koehler, J. S.; Displacement of atoms during irradiation. Solid State Physics, 2, 305-448 (1956)

SHA00 - Shatalov, A., Subramanian, S. and Dentai, A.; Neutron irradiation effects in InP/InGaAs single heterojunction bipolar transistors. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2551-2556 (2000)

SHO00 - Short, A. D.; Swift XRT: Proton environment and CCD degradation. X-Ray Astronomy Group, Decoment: XRT-LUX-RE-001/1 (2000)

SIA01 - Siad, M., Boussaa, N., Keffous, A., Rahab, H. and Menari, H.; Effects of 3 MeV proton irradiation on the electrical properties of silicon detectors. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 463, 413-417 (2001)

SIM00 - Simoen, E. and Claeys, C.; The impact of high-energy proton irradiation on the low-frequency 1/f noise in FZ-silicon diodes. Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing, 3, 263-267 (2000)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	68 (70)

SIM96 - Simoen, E., Vanhellemont, J., Claeys, C., Kaniava, A. and Glaubas, E.; The response of Si p-n junction diodes to proton irradiation. Semicond. Sci. Technol., 11, 1434-1442 (1996)

SIM98 - Simoen, E., Claeys, C. and Ohyama, H.; Factors determining the damage coefficients and the low-frequency noise in MeV proton-irradiated silicon diodes. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-45, 89-97 (1998)

SMI97 - Smith, K. M. for the GaAs Collaboration; Status report of the RD-8 collaboration. CERN/LHCC 97-37 (1997)

SPI96 - Spieler, H.; Introduction to radiation-resistant semiconductor devices and circuits. Tutorial by Helmuth Spieler (Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Physics Division) (1996)

SRO00 - Srour, J. R., Lo, D. H.; Universal damage factor for radiation-induced dark current in silicon devices. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2451-2459 (2000)

STE00 - Stefanov, K. D., Tsukamoto, T., Miyamoto, A., Sugimoto, Y., Tamura, N., Abe, K., Nagamine, T. and Aso, T.; Electron and neutron radiation damage effects on a two-phase CCD. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-47, 1280-1291 (2000)

SUM87 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A., Dale, C. J., Wolicki, E. A., Marshall, P. W. and Gehlhausen, M. A.; Correlation of particle-induced displacement damage in silicon. IEEE Trans. on Nucl. Sci., NS-37, No. 6, 1137-1139 (1987)

SUM88 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A., Xapsos, M. A., Dale, C. J., Marschall, P. W., Peterson, E. L.; Displacement damage in GaAs structures. IEEE Trans. On. Nucl. Sci., 35, No. 6, 1221-1226 (1988)

SUM93 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A., Shapiro, P., Messenger, S. R.; Damage correlations in semiconductors exposed to gamma, electron and proton radiations. IEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 40 No. 6, 1372-1379 (1993)

SUM95 - Summers, G. P., Burke, E. A. and Xapsos, M. A.; Displacement damage analogs to ionising radiation effects. Radiation Measurements, 24, No. 1, 1-8 (1995)

SUM97 - Summers, G. P., Messenger, S. R., Burke, E. A., Xapsos, M. A., Walters, R. J.; Low energy proton-induced displacement damage in shielded GaAs solar cells in space. Appl. Phys. Letters 71, (7)., 71, 832-834 (1997)

TOM97 - Tomida, H., Matsumoto, H., Ozaki, M., Tazawa, Y., Awaki, H., Tsuru, T., Koyama, K., Tsunemi, H., Yamamoto, K.; Radiation damage on X-ray CCDs and restoration technique for space astronomy. Publ. Soc. Japan, 49, 405-412 (1997)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
in Electronic Components by Method of Simulation		Issue:	1.0
Universität zu Köln	Abteilung Nuklearchemie	Date:	31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	69 (70)

VAN89 - Van Ginneken, A.; Non ionizing energy deposition in silicon for radiation damage studies. Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, Special Publication FN-522, October 1989, 1-8 (1989)

VAS00 - Vasilescu, A., Lindström, G.; Displacement damage in silicon, on-line compilation. http://sesame.desy.de/~gunnar/Si-dfuncs.html (2000)

VAS00a - Vasilescu, A., Lindström, G.; Notes on the fluence normalisation based on the NIEL scaling hypothesis. ROSE/TN/2000-02 (2000)

VAS01 - Vasilescu, Angela; Abstract: Fluence normalisation based on the NIEL scaling hypothesis. http://sesam.desy.de/rose98/abstracts/vasilescu.html, download 26.03.2001

VAS97 - Vasilescu, A.; The NIEL scaling hypothesis applied to neutron spectra of irradiation facilities and in the ATLAS and CMS SCT and the irradiation facilities used for damage tests. ROSE/TN/97-2, Institute of Nuclear Physics and Engineering, Bucharest, Romania (1997)

VAS97a - Vasilescu, A.; Detectors for the study of proton-proton interaction at very high energies. ROSE/TN/97-1 (1997)

WAL91 - Walters, R. J., Messenger, S. R., Summers, G. P., Wolicki, E. A., Burke, E. A.; Space radiation effects in InP solar cells. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 38, 1153-1158 (1991)

WAL96 - Walker, S. R., Johnston, P. N., Bubb, I. F., Stannard, W. B., Jamieson, D. N., Dooly, S. P., Cohen, D. D., Dytlewski, N., Martin, J. W.; Damage in semiconductor material during heavy-ion elastic recoil detection analysis. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. B, 113, 312-316 (1996)

WAL97 - Walters, R. J., Messenger, S. R., Cotal, H. L., Xapsos, M. A., Wojtczuk, S. J., Serreze, H. B., Summers, G. P.; Radiation response of heteroepitaxial InP/Si solar cells. J. Appl. Phys., 85 No. 5, 2164-2175 (1997)

WAT97 - Watts, S. J.; Overview of radiation damage in silicon detectors - Models and defect engineering. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 386, 149-155 (1997)

WOO81 - Woods, S., Doyle, N. J., Spitznagel, J. A., Choyke, W. J., More, R. M., McGruer, J. N., Irwin, R. B.; Simulation of radiation damage in silicon. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 28, 4107-4112 (1981)

WUN92 - Wunstorf, R., Benkert, M., Fretwurst, E., Lindström, G., Schulz, T., Darvas, R., Croitoru, N. et al.; Radiation damage of silicon detectors by monoenergetic neutrons between 1 and 14 MeV and 1.8 MeV electrons. Nucl. Phys. B (Proc. Suppl.), 23A, 324-332 (1992)

ESA-GSP Predicting Displacement Damage Effects		Ref.:15157/01/NL/PA	
Universität zu Köln Abteilung Nuklearchemie		lssue: Date:	1.0 31.05.2002
Work Package 1 Study Report		Page:	70 (70)

WYS00 - Wyss, J., Bisello, D., Candelori, A., Kaminsky, A., Pantano, D.; Observation of an energy dependance of the radiation damage on standard and oxygenated silicon diodes by 16, 21, and 27 MeV protons. ROSE/TN/2000-07 (accepted for publication in NIMA) (2000)

XAP00 - Xapsos, M. A., Barth, J. L., Stassinopoulos, E. G., Messenger, S. R., Walters, R. J., Summers, G. P. and Burke, E. A.; Characterizing solar proton energy spectra for radiation effects applications. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2218-2223 (2000)

ZHA00 - Zhang, S., Niu, G., Cressler, J. D., Mathew, S. J., Gogineni, U., Zampardi, P., Clark, S. D. and Pierson, R. L.; A comparison of the effects of gamma irradiation on SiGe HBT and GaAs HBT technologies. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 47 No. 6, 2521-2527 (2000)

ZHU98 - Zhu, Ren-yuan; Radiation damage in scintillating crystals. Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A, 413, 297-311 (1998)

ZIE79 - Ziegler, J. F., Lanford, W. A.; Effect of cosmic rays on computer memories. Science, 206, 776-788 (1979)

ZIE96 - Ziegler, J. B.; SRIM- The stopping and range of ions in matter. Instruction Manual; http://www.research.ibm.com/ionsbeams/SRIM/SRIMA.HTM (1996)